

COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT

Between

**~~Broward Paraprofessional Association~~
Broward Teachers Union-Education
Support Professionals**

And

**The School Board of Broward County,
Florida**

2009-2010 School Year

July 1, 2006 – June 30, 2011

PARAPROFESSIONAL EDUCATION SUPPORT PROFESSIONAL
TABLE OF CONTENTS

<u>ARTICLE</u>	<u>TITLE</u>
	Preamble/Purpose and Intent
1	Recognition
2	Management Rights
3	Procedure for Future Negotiations
4	Grievance Procedure
5	Employee and PPA <u>BTU-ESP</u> Rights
6	Terms and Conditions of Employment
7	Personnel Files
8	Employee Evaluations
9	Employee Discipline
10	Holidays
11	Emergency School Closing
12	Leaves
13	Assignments, Vacancies, Transfers and Promotions <u>Vacancies, Reappointments, Assignments,</u> <u>Reassignments, Summer School Vacancies,</u> <u>Promotions and Transfers</u>
14	Reduction In Force
15	Insurance
16	Inservice Training
17	Wages
18	Miscellaneous
19	Term of Agreement
Appendix A	Grievance Form
Appendix B	Evaluation Form

PARAPROFESSIONAL EDUCATION SUPPORT PROFESSIONAL
TABLE OF CONTENTS

<u>ARTICLE</u>	<u>TITLE</u>
Appendix C	Teacher Aide <u>Classroom Assistant/Certified Classroom Assistant</u> Salary Schedule
Appendix D	Teacher Assistant <u>Teacher Assistant/Certified Teacher Assistant</u> Salary Schedule
Appendix E	Special <u>Program Assistant</u> Salary Schedule
Appendix F	College Credit Incentive Program
Appendix G	Breakfast Supplement
Appendix H	Summer Term/Supersession Employment Form
Appendix I	Declination of Medical Coverage Affidavit
Appendix J	Special Task Force Committee
Appendix K <u>J</u>	Teacher Corp Program
Appendix L <u>K</u>	Career Ladder
Appendix M <u>L</u>	Creation of Pay Grade 11 and 13 & Advanced Degree Incentive

PREAMBLE

This AGREEMENT, ~~entered into this 1st day of July, 2004,~~ by and between THE SCHOOL BOARD OF BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA, hereinafter called the "Board," and ~~THE BROWARD COUNTY PARAPROFESSIONAL ASSOCIATION~~ THE BROWARD TEACHERS UNION-EDUCATION SUPPORT PROFESSIONALS, an affiliate of the Broward NEA Uniserv, the Florida Teaching Profession-NEA, and the National Education Association, hereinafter called the "~~Association~~" or "PPA BTU-ESP." Witnesseth:

WHEREAS, the Board and the ~~Association~~ BTU-ESP have negotiated in good faith, with the ~~Association~~ BTU-ESP acting as the exclusive agent for the ~~paraprofessional educational support professionals~~ personnel included in the certified unit with respect to wages, hours, and terms and conditions of employment, and

WHEREAS, the parties, following extended and deliberate negotiations, have reached certain understandings which they desire to confirm in this Agreement.

In consideration of the following mutual covenants, it is hereby agreed as follows:

PURPOSE AND INTENT

It is the purpose of this Agreement to provide, where not otherwise provided by the Constitution of Statutes of the State of Florida or Board policies, for the wages, hours and terms and conditions of employment of the employees covered by this Agreement, assure the continuous and efficient operation of the school system, and to provide an orderly, prompt, peaceful and equitable procedure for the resolution of differences between employees and the District; however, this section shall be applied in accordance with Article 18 (c) of this Agreement and nothing provided herein shall deprive employees of their rights under F.S. 477.301.

ARTICLE 1

Recognition

- A. The Board recognizes the PPA BTU-ESP as the sole and exclusive bargaining agent for the bargaining unit of employees as certified by the Public Employees Relations Commission in Case No. ~~8H-RA-764-2034~~ AC-2009-008, Certification No. 295, CERTIFICATION OF REPRESENTATIVE FOLLOWING VOLUNTARY RECOGNITION AND ORDER TO NEGOTIATE, issued by the Florida Public Employees Relations Commission on the ~~fourteenth day of December, 1976~~ twenty-fifth day of March, 2009, as amended:

"INCLUSIONS: All ~~paraprofessional~~ education support professional employees employed by The School Board of Broward County, including ~~teacher aides~~ Classroom Assistants, Certified Classroom Assistants, Teacher Assistants, Certified Teacher Assistants, Program Assistants, BRACE employees, ~~v~~Vocational and ~~e~~Career ~~a~~Advisors, ~~p~~Parent ~~e~~Educators, ~~j~~Job ~~e~~Coaches, ~~e~~Educational ~~a~~Assistants, ~~h~~Home ~~s~~Service ~~e~~Educators, Even Start, and ~~e~~Community ~~l~~Liaisons, ~~teacher tutors,~~ ~~s~~Social ~~e~~Educators and ~~e~~Community ~~s~~Social ~~w~~Workers.

EXCLUSIONS: All other employees of The School Board of Broward County."

- B. **Definitions:** The terms listed below, when used in any provisions of this contract, shall be defined as follows:
1. Employee - Any employee in the PPA BTU-ESP bargaining unit as defined and certified by Public Employees Relations Commission (PERC). Employees may also be referred to as bargaining unit members.
 2. Superintendent - The Superintendent of the District or his/her designated representative.
 3. District - The School District of Broward County, Florida.
 4. Immediate Supervisor - The person in an administrative or supervisory position directly responsible for the supervision and direction of an employee and to whom the employee is directly responsible. An immediate supervisor shall be a person who is not a member of the bargaining unit represented by PPA BTU-ESP. For purposes of grievance processing, the immediate supervisor shall be a school principal or center director.

5. Seniority - For purposes of this Agreement, seniority shall be defined as the longest uninterrupted service in the bargaining unit unless defined differently in a specific provision of this Agreement. Service shall not be deemed to be interrupted by any leave approved and granted pursuant to this contract. An employee who leaves the unit for any position in the District or who is on layoff status retains earned seniority if he/she returns to the bargaining unit within one (1) year, and upon return, shall assume the accumulation of unit seniority.

Such seniority being equal between or among two (2) or more employees, the additional criteria to be used, in the following order, shall be:

- a. the longest total service in a ~~PPA~~ BTU-ESP bargaining unit position in the District;
 - b. the longest total service in any permanent position of employment by the District;
 - c. the earliest date of application for any position of employment by the District.
6. Probationary Employee — For a newly hired employee, whether full-time or part-time, the probationary period shall be one hundred thirty one (131) workdays. During said probationary period, the Board may suspend, terminate, or discipline a probationary employee for any reason whatsoever except for lawful union activities. No claim will be made by the employee or by the ~~Association~~ BTU-ESP that the action was improper (See Article VI - Section Q).

Probationary employees shall be eligible for insurance coverage after completing their forty-fifth (45th) workday. Probationary employees shall accrue sick leave, but shall not be able to utilize the leave until their seventy-fifth (75th) workday. Should the employee be terminated prior to the completion of their full probationary period, all leave shall be returned to the School Board.

7. Permanent Full-Time Employee - An employee who has satisfactorily completed his/her probationary period of employment, as defined in Section 6 above in a position which has no predetermined termination date and calls for the employee to work as defined in Article VI of this Agreement.

8. Regular/Permanent Part-Time Employee - An employee who has satisfactorily completed his/her probationary period of employment as defined in Section 6 above in a position which calls for the employee to work less than the normal work week but at least twenty (20) hours per week.
9. Temporary Full-Time or Temporary Part-Time Employee - An employee who has a predetermined termination date or who is hired exclusively for cafeteria duty as provided in Article VI, Section B.

A temporary employee, except employees hired for cafeteria duty shall be automatically terminated by the School Board after one hundred twenty (120) workdays of temporary status, except when the employee is replacing a bargaining unit employee on disability income, workers compensation, or maternity leave. Temporary employees shall not be eligible for any fringe benefits (i.e., paid holidays, annual leave, sick leave, retirement, etc.).

10. Vacancy - When a permanent employee is sought to fill a permanent position.
11. Administrator - The Superintendent, Area and Associate Superintendent, principals, directors or their subordinate managers or supervisors responsible for the various levels of administrative duties.
12. Substitute - A casual employee who replaces a permanent employee absent from duty as defined in Article I, B-7.
13. Administrative Designee - An administrator designated by the school principal or chief supervisory administrator.

C. Bargaining Unit Clarification:

1. The ~~PPA~~ BTU-ESP shall be notified prior to changes in position titles. The parties agree that changes in position classification titles only shall not affect membership in the bargaining unit. Either party may seek an amendment to the certification of the bargaining unit to include new titles and exclude those no longer in use.
2. The ~~PPA~~ BTU-ESP shall receive copies of new noninstructional job descriptions approved by the Board, with an indication of whether such positions are to be included in the ~~PPA~~ BTU-ESP bargaining unit.

It is further agreed that as new position classifications are created by the Administration and the Board, the questions of inclusion within or exclusion from the bargaining unit shall be determined by reference to the Recognition Article of this Agreement and the job descriptions of those classifications. Where the parties agree that new positions be included in the bargaining unit, they shall immediately seek an amendment to the certification of the bargaining unit to include the new certifications of employees. In the event the parties do not agree as to inclusion or exclusion, the PPA BTU-ESP will immediately seek unit clarification from the Public Employees Relations Commission.

ARTICLE 2
Management Rights

- A. It is understood and agreed that the District possesses the right and responsibility to operate and manage all schools, departments and programs, and to direct the work forces. The rights, powers, authority, and discretion necessary for the District to carry out these rights and responsibilities shall be limited only by the express terms of this Agreement and shall be exercised in a manner consistent with this Agreement and Florida Statutes. In matters not covered by this Agreement, the District shall have the right to make administrative decisions.
- B. Consistent with this Agreement, the management rights shall include, but not be limited to, the following:
1. Determine the purpose and mission of the Broward County School System, and the department and agencies under its jurisdiction.
 2. Set standards of service to be offered to the public.
 3. Establish employee job descriptions.
 4. Direct its employees and establish standards of performance and conduct, including the right to make reasonable rules and regulations for the purpose of efficiency, safe practices and discipline.
 5. Introduce new, improved or different methods and techniques of operation or work procedure.
 6. Relieve employees from duty because of lack of work, lack of funds or for other legitimate reasons.
 7. Take disciplinary action for just cause. (Note: See Article IX, Employee Discipline).
 8. Hire, promote, transfer or assign employees.
- C. The parties agree that directing and managing the workforce is a management right. In the event that such an action occurs and that action shall impact the wages, hours, terms or conditions of employment, the District will notify the BPPA BTU-ESP as soon as possible after a decision has been made. Both parties shall collaboratively discuss the

implementation process to ensure that the impact to affected employees has been thoroughly discussed and reviewed.

ARTICLE 3
Procedure for Future Negotiations

- A. **Mutual Commitment to Good Faith Negotiations:** Both parties agree to meet at reasonable times and places to negotiate in good faith effort to reach agreement in accordance with Florida Statute 447. During the course of negotiations, the parties or their designees agree to make proposals and counterproposals. Neither party shall be required to make a concession. Articles tentatively agreed to shall be initialed by each party and dated, and shall be set aside subject to ratification of the Agreement.
- B. **Requests for Meetings:** No sooner than ninety (90) calendar days prior to the expiration date of the negotiated Contract, either party may notify the other of a desire to commence bargaining. A request from the ~~Association~~ BTU-ESP should be made in writing to the Chairperson of the Board and/or Superintendent. A request from the Board and/or Superintendent should be made in writing to the President of the ~~Association~~ BTU-ESP. Within five (5) days of receipt of the request by the Board and/or Superintendent, a mutually convenient time and place for a meeting shall be established. The meeting shall take place no later than ten (10) days following the date of the receipt of the request. Additional meetings shall be agreed upon by the negotiation's representatives as may be necessary to complete an agreement.
- C. **Negotiation Teams:** Neither party in any negotiations shall have any control over the selection of the bargaining representatives of the other party. The parties mutually pledge that their representatives will be clothed with all necessary authority and power to make proposals, counterproposals and to reach tentative agreement on items being negotiated. The parties realize the Agreement shall only be effective subject to the ratification of the ~~PPA~~ BTU-ESP and the School Board. The Negotiation/Labor Management team shall consist of no more than six (6) bargaining unit employees. Two (2) alternates may be assigned to attend sessions/meetings in the absence of a regular negotiations/labor management team member. The Negotiations/Labor Management team members shall be permitted to attend all negotiations/labor management sessions that occur during the regular work hours without loss of pay. However, no employee shall be paid overtime for sessions that extend beyond the regular workday. The ~~BPPA~~ BTU-ESP shall notify the Employee Relations Department at least twenty-four (24) hours in advance of that specific session when an alternate will be attending for a named regular team member, so that the proper release notification can be sent to the affected employee's work location.

- D. **Access for Information:** The Board agrees to make available to the ~~Association~~ BTU-ESP such public information as is requested by the ~~Association~~ BTU-ESP for developing meaningful negotiation proposals on behalf of the ~~paraprofessionals~~ education support professionals, to gather information which may be necessary for the ~~Association~~ BTU-ESP to fulfill its obligation to effectively represent ~~paraprofessionals~~ education support professionals in the processing of any grievance or complaint.
- E. **Labor-Management Meetings:** At the written request by representatives of the Board and the ~~PPA~~ BTU-ESP a meeting will be held during the regular school year at a time convenient to both parties for the purpose of reviewing the administration of this Agreement and to resolve problems that may arise therefrom.

These meetings are not intended for the purpose of negotiations or to bypass the grievance procedure. Further, each party will submit to the other, at least twenty-four (24) hours prior to the meetings, an agenda covering what it wishes to discuss. Such meetings may be cancelled by mutual consent.

ARTICLE 4

Grievance Procedure

- A. **Definition:** Any claim by an employee(s), or the ~~Association~~ Union, that there has been a violation, misinterpretation or misapplication of any provisions of this Agreement may be processed as a grievance, as hereinafter provided.

Nothing in this Article shall be construed to prevent a bargaining unit member from processing his/her own grievance in person through this grievance procedure and having such grievance adjusted without the intervention of ~~PPA~~ BTU-ESP, if the adjustment is not inconsistent with the terms of this Agreement, and if ~~PPA~~ BTU-ESP has been given reasonable opportunity to be present at any meeting called for the resolution of such grievance, and the ~~PPA~~ BTU-ESP shall be provided with the resolution of such grievance in writing. However, only the ~~Association~~ Union may submit a grievance to arbitration.

B. **Procedure:**

1. During all steps of this procedure, an employee may be represented by him/herself or, if he/she prefers, or by a ~~PPA~~ BTU-ESP representative. Records of Counseling and written reprimands, with the exception of those issued by the Special Investigative Unit, shall be grievable only through Step II of the grievance process. Said Records of Counseling and/or written reprimands will be held in abeyance as per Article VII, Personnel Files, Section A.
2. **Informal:** In the event that an employee believes there is a basis for a grievance, he/she shall first discuss promptly the alleged grievance with the immediate supervisor within twelve (12) working days of the date on which the employee could reasonably have known of the occurrence of the event giving rise to the alleged grievance.
3. **Formal:** If, as a result of the informal discussion with the immediate supervisor, an alleged grievance still exists, a formal grievance may be invoked by the employee within five (5) working days of the informal discussion, on the form set forth in annexed Appendix A, signed by the grievant and/or by a representative of the ~~PPA~~ BTU-ESP, which form shall be available from the principal or the ~~PPA~~ BTU-ESP. If the grievance involves more than one school building, a group of employees, or arises from an action

above the level of the immediate supervisor, it may be initially filed with the Superintendent at Step II and the informal discussion may be waived by PPA BTU-ESP.

C. Steps of Formal Grievance Procedure:

1. Step I - Immediate Supervisor

The grievant may submit to the immediate supervisor, a copy of the grievance form. Within five (5) working days of receipt of the grievance, the immediate supervisor shall meet with the grievant in an effort to resolve the grievance. The immediate supervisor shall indicate the disposition of the grievance in writing to PPA BTU-ESP within five (5) working days after such meeting.

2. Step II - Superintendent

If the grievant and/or PPA BTU-ESP is not satisfied with the disposition of the grievance, or if no disposition has been made with the specified time limit, or if Step I has been omitted, the grievance shall be submitted to the Superintendent within five (5) working days of the disposition of the immediate supervisor or expiration of the time limit. Within five (5) working days of receipt of the grievance, the Superintendent shall meet with the grievant. Within five (5) working days of said meeting, the Superintendent shall indicate the disposition of the grievance in writing. If the parties reach a mutual resolution, it shall be in writing, signed, dated and distributed to the PPA BTU-ESP and the School District. Upon resolution, processing of the grievance shall automatically terminate.

3. Step III - Arbitration

- a. If the grievant or PPA BTU-ESP is not satisfied with the disposition of the grievance by the Superintendent or if no disposition has been made within the specified time limit, the grievance may be submitted only by the PPA BTU-ESP to arbitration before an impartial arbitrator within seven (7) working days of the written disposition at Step II or the expiration of the time limit. The seven (7) working days will commence from the postmark affixed to the Step II answer envelope by the U. S. Postal Service.
- b. Selection of Arbitrator: If the parties cannot agree to an arbitrator within five (5) working days from the notification

date, that arbitration will be pursued, the arbitrator shall be selected from a list supplied by the Federal Mediation and Conciliation Service ("FMCS") or the American Arbitration Association ("AAA") in accordance with the rules of the respective organization, which rules shall likewise govern the arbitration proceedings.

- c. **Power of Arbitrator:** The arbitrator shall limit his/her decision to the application and interpretation of this Agreement and shall have no power to modify, alter, add to, or subtract from the provisions of this Agreement.
- d. **Cost of Arbitration:** If the arbitrator sustains the position of the grievant, the fees and expenses of the arbitrator, including AAA and FMCS filing fees, shall be paid by the Board. However, if the arbitrator sustains the Board's position, all fees and expenses of the arbitrator and all filing fees shall be paid by the grievant or the ~~Association~~ Union. If the decision issued by the arbitrator is not the one requested by either party, the arbitrator shall determine the distribution of his/her fees between the parties. Each party shall be responsible for any other expense it chooses to incur. The parties may, by mutual agreement, agree to share the cost of the arbitration.
- e. **Witnesses:** Employees required to testify will be made available without loss of pay; however, whenever possible they will be placed on call to minimize time lost from work. Employees who have completed their testimony shall return to work unless they are the grievant(s). Nothing provided herein shall prevent a witness from being recalled to testify. In group grievances, the group of employees shall be represented by the ~~PPA~~ BTU-ESP and one member of the group.
- f. **Disclosure of Information:** Neither the Board nor the ~~Association~~ Union shall be permitted to assert in such arbitration proceedings any grounds or rely on any evidence which has not previously been disclosed to the other party.
- g. **Award:** Both parties agree that the award of the arbitration shall be final and binding.
- h. On a case-by-case basis, the parties may mutually agree to utilize an expedited arbitration procedure. The specific

procedures covering all aspects of the expedited arbitration hearing must be mutually agreed to by the parties prior to the scheduling of the hearing.

- i. The parties may, by mutual agreement, establish the procedures as well as the working guidelines to select and utilize a panel of arbitrators. The panel of arbitrators would be reviewed every two years at which time the parties, by mutual agreement, may make changes to the panel.

D. General Provisions:

1. It is the mutual intent of the ~~Association~~ Union and the Board to resolve all grievances at the earliest possible level of the grievance procedure.
2. **Time Limits:**
 - a. The time limits provided in this article shall be strictly observed, but may be extended only by mutual written agreement of the parties. All formal grievances must be appealed to the next step within the specified time limits. Failure to do so shall deem the grievance settled on the basis of the disposition at the previous level. Failure of the administration to respond within the specified time limits shall permit the grievant to appeal to the next level.
 - b. In the event a grievance is filed after May 15 of any year and strict adherence to the time limits may result in hardship to any party, the Superintendent shall use best efforts to process such grievances prior to the end of the school term or as soon thereafter as possible.
 - c. Whenever illness or other incapacity of either party or its representatives prevents attendance at a grievance meeting, the time limits shall be extended to permit such person(s) to be present.
3. **Grievance Meetings/Conferences:** When grievance meetings, conferences or hearings are scheduled during school hours, employees required to testify shall be excused without loss of pay or accumulated leave for that purpose.

4. **Discrimination:** The provisions of the Agreement shall be applied without regard to race, creed, color, religion, national origin, age, sex, handicap or marital status.
45. **Employee Rights:** No Reprisals Clause: All employees will be entitled to fair, reasonable, and equitable treatment in the processing of grievances. An employee who participates or intends to participate in any grievance as described herein shall not be subjected to discipline, reprimand, warning or reprisal because of such participation or intention. All documents, communications and records dealing with the processing of an employee's grievance will be filed separately from the employee's personnel file.
56. **Adjustment/Resolution:** Adjustment or resolution of any grievance herein shall not be inconsistent with the provisions of this Agreement.
67. **Expiration of the Agreement:** Notwithstanding, the expiration of this Agreement, any claim or grievance arising thereunder may be processed through the grievance procedure until resolved.

ARTICLE 5
Employee and PPA BTU-ESP Rights

- A. **Rights Under the Law:** Nothing contained herein shall be construed to deny to any employee rights granted under the Florida School Laws or Laws or other applicable laws and regulations.
- B. **Information to Union:** The Board agrees to furnish the PPA BTU-ESP with the following at a charge not to exceed that authorized by Florida Statute 119.07:

First Name/Last Name

Home Address

Home Phone Number

Work Location

Job Classification (~~i.e. Teacher Aide, Teacher Assistant, Job Coach, Parent Educator, Community Liaison, etc.~~)

Personnel Number

Dues Deduction Amount

Employment Date

Bargaining Unit Date

Such information shall be sent via electronic format on a quarterly basis.

- C. **Use of School Buildings:** The ~~BPPA~~ BTU-ESP and its representatives shall be permitted to hold monthly meetings with all ~~BPPA~~ BTU-ESP members after regular school hours provided that such use does not result in overtime compensation to other staff who may be required to be present while the school remains open for use. If rental is charged, it shall be in accordance with Board policy.
- D. **Use of School Facilities and Equipment:** The PPA BTU-ESP and its representatives may, upon approval of the principal, have the right to use school facilities and equipment, including computers, copiers, other duplicating and photocopying equipment, calculating and computing machines, and audiovisual equipment at reasonable times, when such equipment is not otherwise in use. The PPA BTU-ESP shall, upon request by the principal, pay for the reasonable cost for such use and for all materials and supplies incidental to such use. Whenever possible, employees shall have the right to access CAB e-mail from designated computers at the work location with the understanding that student contact time shall not be interrupted. The Principal/Designee shall designate which computers are allowed for employee use. If more employees exist than computers for designated use, the

Principal/Designee may rotate employee use on such equipment on a basis that provides equal time among all affected employees.

E. Use of Bulletin Boards and Mailboxes:

1. **Bulletin Boards:** PPA BTU-ESP shall have the right to post notices of activities and matters of PPA BTU-ESP concern in a designated area assigned by the school principal at each school or center. Only official materials from PPA BTU-ESP or its affiliate may be posted. (Notices endorsing any national, state or local political candidate shall be prohibited.)
2. **Mail Services:** PPA BTU-ESP may use the School Board mail service, including employee mailboxes, for official communication to ~~paraprofessionals~~ education support professionals, provided the ~~Association~~ BTU-ESP complies with all provisions of the Private Express Statutes, including postage requirements. The parties agree that should the Private Express Statutes change regarding required postage, this provision shall be modified accordingly. PPA BTU-ESP and the Board shall develop guidelines for this service and for appropriate charges prior to implementing the use of the mail service.

F. Transaction of ~~Association~~ BTU-ESP Business: Duly authorized representatives of the PPA BTU-ESP may, with the approval of the principal, be permitted to transact official PPA BTU-ESP business on school property at all reasonable times, provided that this shall not interfere with or disrupt normal school operations.

G. Board Furnished Materials: The Board agrees to make available to the PPA BTU-ESP, Board agendas furnished other organizations and minutes of Board meetings; names and addresses, and telephone numbers of all employees; salaries paid thereto and years of service; and other such specific publicly available information, if available, as will assist PPA BTU-ESP in developing intelligent, accurate, informed and constructive programs on behalf of the employees, together with information which may be necessary for the PPA BTU-ESP to process any grievance.

H. Right to Address the School Board: The PPA BTU-ESP may appear on the Board agenda to discuss Board business. In order to do so, the Superintendent must be contacted at least ten (10) days in advance of the Board meeting in order that an administrative review may be conducted and the item placed on the official Board Agenda. The presentation shall be limited to the topic listed.

- I. **School Visitation:** The PPA BTU-ESP President and/or other PPA BTU-ESP representatives may, with the approval of the principal, be allowed to visit schools to investigate employee complaints, problems or for other purposes relating to PPA BTU-ESP affairs.
- J. **Payroll Deduction:** The Board shall, upon written authorization of the employee, deduct PPA BTU-ESP dues. The PPA BTU-ESP shall furnish, distribute, and process authorization forms, said forms to be filed by PPA BTU-ESP with the Payroll Department. Employees who desire to become members of the PPA BTU-ESP shall file their authorization form with the PPA BTU-ESP. Pursuant to such authorization, the Board shall deduct such annual sum as authorized in equal payments from the employees regular salary check, beginning with the first pay check in August for employees in Year Round Schools and September for all other employees, including the final check(s) received in June of each year, and thereafter each salary check received by the employee in the pay period following date of authorization for new members. Such authorization shall continue in effect from month to month, thereafter unless revoked by the employees in writing to the PPA BTU-ESP and to the Payroll Department, not less than thirty (30) days prior to the next payroll cutoff date. The deductions shall be remitted not less frequently than monthly to the PPA BTU-ESP, with a list of members and the amount deducted year-to-date.

The right to such dues deduction shall be granted exclusively to the PPA BTU-ESP and shall not be granted to any other employee organization seeking to represent employees in the bargaining unit. The PPA BTU-ESP shall notify the Payroll Department of the amount of any change in annual dues to be deducted not later than the last workday of the month prior to the month in which such change becomes effective. The ~~Association~~ BTU-ESP agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Board, each individual Board Member and all administrators against any and all claims, costs, suits, or other forms of liability and all court costs arising out of the application of the provisions of this section.

Upon appropriate written authorization from the employee, the Board shall deduct from the salary of the employee and make appropriate remittance for annuities, credit union, savings bonds, charitable donations, insurance, PPA BTU-ESP special services programs, or any other plans or programs approved by the PPA BTU-ESP and the Board as a part of this Agreement or additional programs approved by the Board that are not a part of this Agreement.

- K. **Non-Reprisal Clause:** An employee shall not be subject to discipline, reprimand, warning, reprisal or harassment because of his/her

participation in ~~Association~~ BTU-ESP activities and/or participation in the grievance (Article 4) process. All grievances or complaints arising from this provision shall be processed exclusively with PERC procedures established under Chapter 447 of Florida Statutes.

- L. ~~Association~~ **BTU-ESP Exclusivity:** The rights granted to PPA BTU-ESP in this agreement shall be granted to PPA BTU-ESP exclusively as the sole and exclusive bargaining agent and shall not be granted to any employee organization seeking to represent employees in the bargaining unit.
- M. Principals or other appropriate administrators shall be responsible for immediately reporting to the Superintendent, through Professional Standards and Special Investigative Unit, any person who (1) commits assault or battery upon any employee, or upbraids, abuses or insults any employee during employment, on school property or at a school activity, and (2) any person who is not otherwise subject to the rules and regulations of the school who creates a disturbance on the property or grounds of any school, or who commits any act which interrupts the orderly conduct of a school or any activity thereof. The Professional Standards and Special Investigative Unit shall make an immediate investigation. If the investigation indicates that the charges are warranted, the Superintendent shall assist the insulted person in filing charges against the individual who committed the insult/assault.
- N. The Board agrees to furnish the PPA BTU-ESP, three times each year, November 1, February 1 and March 15, two full file information rosters of bargaining unit members, (one in alphabetical order by location - one in alphabetical order); at no cost to the ~~Association~~ BTU-ESP.
- O. The president and vice-president of the PPA BTU-ESP, the president of the state affiliate, and the executive officers of the national affiliate shall be granted temporary duty leave for their respective term of office. Upon return from leave the employee shall be placed in the same position held before such leave, or if such position is not available, to a substantially equivalent position within the scope of the employee's job classification. Such employee shall have the right to continue participation in the retirement system and insurance programs of the District, as well as to receive credit for salary increment, all as if in actual service to the District. The PPA BTU-ESP shall reimburse the Board for the actual cost of such employee's salary and benefits.
- P. **Student Pick Up and Drop Off:** ~~Paraprofessionals~~ Education support professionals shall not be required to open and close automobile/van

doors for students, load or unload children from vehicles, secure children in car seats, or load or unload student supplies. This section shall apply only to students picked up or dropped off in a private vehicle.

- Q. When a need for physical restraint training is identified, the Principal/designee shall seek the approval through the Area Office for a designated team to be certified. At least one (1) ~~paraprofessional~~ education support professional employee may be given the opportunity to be a member of the team. Physical restraint procedures shall be performed for the duration of the certification period for each designated team member.
- R. **Professional Development:** When it does not adversely impact the operation of the school or the school's budget, principals shall approve requests from ~~paraprofessionals~~ education support professionals to receive job-related training during normal work hours that will enhance or improve their ability to perform the duties required of their job. Requests for training shall not be unreasonably denied and may be subject to the grievance procedure.
- S. **District Mandatory Child Abuse Reporting/Employee Protection:** Employees have a duty to report child abuse to either the child abuse hotline or the child abuse designee at the school location and shall not be retaliated against for making such report.
- T. **Domestic Violence Leave:** The parties mutually agree that upon approval of and in alignment with a School Board policy on Domestic Violence Leave, the three (3) days of leave as outlined by Florida Statute shall be paid leave for employees who are victims of domestic violence as defined in Florida Statute 741.28.
- U. **Parking/I.D. Passes:** The President of the ~~Broward Paraprofessional Association—(BPPA)~~ Broward Teachers Union-Education Support Professionals (BTU-ESP), full-time paid professional staff, and employees serving on district committees shall receive parking and identification passes that allow parking and personal entry into the Kathleen C. Wright Administration Building. The ~~BPPA~~ BTU-ESP shall provide a written list of paid, professional staff members, district committee members, and the name of the President of the Union to the Associate Superintendent of Human Resources.
- V. **Student Ratio To ~~PARAPROFESSIONALS~~ Education Support Professionals:** When the number of breakfast/lunch participants exceeds one hundred and twenty (120) students at one sitting, the principal will consider allocating additional ~~paraprofessionals~~ education

support professionals to the breakfast/lunch program. The decision to allocate and additional ~~paraprofessionals~~ education support professionals shall be at the sole discretion of the principal/administrator.

- W. Whenever possible building representatives shall be given super seniority exemption from layoff. By March 1st the ~~PPA~~ BTU-ESP will provide the Superintendent with a list of official building representatives. Should the building representative vacate their position for any reason, the ~~PPA~~ BTU-ESP shall notify the Superintendent and provide a replacement name.
- X. **Air Quality and Health/Safety Committee:** The Broward ~~Paraprofessional Association~~ BTU-ESP shall appoint one person to serve on the District's Air Quality and Health/Safety Committee for the purpose of bringing recommendations and notifications of issues involving Indoor Air Quality and Health/Safety issues to the attention of the District.

ARTICLE 6
Terms and Conditions of Employment

- A. **Workday:** The workday of permanent full-time employees shall be seven and one-half (7-1/2) consecutive paid hours, including a lunch period of thirty (30) consecutive minutes. The lunch period shall be duty-free except under emergency circumstances. During the lunch period, employees shall not leave the school grounds without permission of the principal. Such permission shall be granted only in cases of emergency. In the case of employees whose jobs, because of Federal grant requirements, require hours of work not in conformance with the above, they shall have a standard workday of not more than seven and one-half (7-1/2) hours including a duty-free, uninterrupted, paid lunch period of not less than thirty (30) consecutive minutes.

The workday of employees shall be no longer than seven and one-half (7-1/2) hours in accordance with Section A, above. Effective the 2001-2002 school year, the workday of employees shall be no less than 6.75 consecutive hours for 186 calendar-day employees or 6.50 consecutive hours for 196 calendar-day employees with the exception of summer school. The workday of employees hired for the exclusive purpose of cafeteria duty shall be no shorter than four (4) consecutive hours. Substitute employees, part-time employees, temporary employees or volunteers shall not be employed in or assigned to a position to avoid the employment of a full-time employee when such employment would circumvent any provision of this Agreement. If a four (4) day work week is implemented during the summer months, this schedule may be compressed into that period. Said compression shall not result in the reduction of salary or benefits.

- B. **Cafeteria Duty Assignment:** ~~All paraprofessionals hired as aides~~ Teacher Assistants, Certified Classroom Assistants, Classroom Assistants and Certified Teacher Assistants will have cafeteria duty except where none of the ~~paraprofessionals~~ ESPs are needed, or because of Federal restrictions, where ~~aides paraprofessionals~~ ESPs have been hired exclusively for cafeteria duty. Such cafeteria duties shall be performed within the appropriate ~~paraprofessional~~ ESP job description. For example, these ~~paraprofessionals~~ ESPs shall not wipe tables, run the trash compactor, or mop floors. To ensure the safety of all students, ~~paraprofessionals~~ ESPs who are assigned to Head Start, unique, or special needs students (including autism) are excluded from cafeteria duty assignment beyond their specific student assignment(s).

- C. **Breaks:** Employees working for five (5) hours to seven and one-half (7-1/2) hours shall receive two (2) fifteen (15) minute breaks per day. One break shall be in the morning and one shall be in the afternoon, unless there is mutual agreement between the affected administrator and ~~paraprofessional(s)~~ ESP(s) to schedule one (1) thirty (30) minute break in the morning or afternoon. All employees working less than five (5) hours shall be granted one (1) fifteen (15) minute break.
- D. **Lunch Period:** Employees who work five (5) hours or more shall be granted a thirty (30) minute, duty-free, uninterrupted lunch period, which may or may not be during the normal lunch hours.
- E. **Basic Annual Work Calendar:** The basic annual work calendar for employees shall be one hundred and eighty-six (186) days, including six (6) paid holidays. If a principal/administrator, at his/her sole discretion, wants to extend an employees annual work calendar, qualification, attendance, reliability, and seniority in the district shall be among the criteria considered by the administrator in granting the extension. Current employees shall be given first consideration in filling the position. Employees shall receive written verification of their calendar starting date, unit seniority date, number of hours contracted to work per day and location, by the last workday of May of each year and/or in accordance with approved action taken by the Board. Upon the conclusion of collective bargaining between the ~~Association~~ BTU-ESP and the Board each year, the negotiated salary schedule and other amended articles shall be distributed to bargaining unit members in accordance with the applicable provisions of this contract.
- New employees hired after the last workday of May of each year shall receive the information specified in E above, no later than ten (10) days after the Board approves their employment.
- F. **Employee Dismissal:** Any permanent employee who is dismissed for disciplinary reasons or as a result of performance evaluation shall be notified in writing of said dismissal, which shall include the specific reasons for dismissal.
- G. **Experience Credit:** An employee who resigns in good standing or is laid off, if re-employed within two (2) years from the effective date of such resignation or layoff, shall be granted experience credit on the salary schedule for all previous experience granted, as an ~~an paraprofessional~~ ESP employee, but shall not be granted credit on the salary schedule for time not worked by virtue of layoff or resignation.
- H. **Just Cause:** No employee shall be dismissed, be reduced in rank, be reduced in compensation, suffer loss of any terms and conditions of

employment, or otherwise be deprived of any advantage of other employment benefit, without just cause.

- I. **Complaints Against An Employee:** No action against an employee shall be taken on the basis of an unverified ~~compliant~~ complaint by a parent or student or other individuals, or any notice of such action or complaint shall be included in the employee's personnel file or any evaluation report, unless the matter is first reported to the employee in writing, and the employee has had an opportunity to discuss the matter with his/her administrator. No investigation of an employee beyond preliminary inquiry by the Professional Standards and Special Investigative Unit may be undertaken without written notice to the employee, such notice to include a statement of the cause giving rise to the investigation.
- J. **Student Discipline/Employee Protection:** The principal shall have the responsibility for maintaining overall discipline within the school setting. Further, the principal may delegate to the employees such responsibility for control and direction of the student as he/she considers desirable or as required by District policy and rules. When and where such responsibility has been delegated, the employee shall be supported in any reasonable action he/she may take. An employee shall be accorded the same protection of law and support of the Board that is accorded certified teachers when under the direction and/or supervision of the Board or its agents.
- K. **Health and Safety:** There shall be compliance with laws relating to health and safety of personnel. Whenever an unsafe or hazardous condition exists, the employee aware of the condition shall report it to the principal/designee. Employees are expected to use appropriate judgment in evaluating immediately hazardous or dangerous conditions, and notifying the appropriate administrator when they believe an area should not be occupied by students or employees. Upon notification, the Principal/Designee will contact the appropriate District Department(s) and the ~~BPPA~~ BTU-ESP to address the situation. The Principal/Designee will send written notification to the ~~BPPA~~ BTU-ESP that the matter has been resolved.
- L. **Rest Areas:** Lounges and/or other areas designated by principals as places where faculty and other staff may eat or rest, except teacher planning areas, shall be available to ~~paraprofessional~~ ESP employees for the same purpose. All ~~paraprofessionals~~ ESPs shall have a secured area (i.e. locker/cabinet) with all day access to lock up personal belongings during their workday.

- M. **Off-Street Parking:** Whenever possible, off-street parking facilities owned by the School Board shall be provided for employee use at each school.
- N. **Telephones:** Telephones for the purpose of school business shall be available in each school for ~~paraprofessional~~ ESP employee use. Bargaining unit members may use school phones for personal, local calls before and after the official workday, during breaks, duty-free lunch or in emergencies, provided that there are no charges to the school associated with said phone calls.
- O. **Smocks and Safety Glasses:** The Board shall provide smocks and/or safety glasses for all employees assigned subject areas where the employee is subjected to more-than-to-be-expected grease, dirt, chemicals, art materials and similar agents.
- P. **Temporary Employees:** Temporary employees who are eventually placed in vacant positions shall have all time accrued as a temporary employee credit to their calendar probationary period, provided such service is continuous at the same work location and leads directly to filling a vacancy. The seniority date for such employee shall be the first day after completion of the required probationary period.
- Q. **Probationary Employees:** Probationary employees who are hired and receive satisfactory evaluations but work less than the calendar year probationary period:
1. ~~i~~If rehired by November 15 of the subsequent school year in a bargaining unit position, shall have all days previously worked as probationary credited to their calendar year probationary period.
 2. ~~i~~If rehired after November 15 of the subsequent school year in a bargaining unit position, shall have all days, up to a maximum of sixty (60) days, previously worked as probationary credited to their calendar year probationary period.

ARTICLE 7
Personnel Files

- A. There shall not be more than two (2) personnel files maintained for each employee. The official file will be maintained at the District personnel office. In the event two (2) such files are maintained, one (1) shall be kept in the principal's or director's office at the school or other location where the employee is then employed. Each document placed into the employee's file maintained by the principal or director's office, with the exception of records of counseling and/or written reprimands issued by a school or department administrator, shall be duplicated and transmitted to the District personnel office for inclusion within the employee's file maintained at the District personnel office. The affected employee will receive a copy of the record of counseling or written reprimand. Said document(s) shall be held in abeyance unless the offending behavior recurs or other disciplinary action is taken, within one (1) year of issuance, in which case all documents will be placed in District personnel file(s). If a record of counseling or a written reprimand is held in abeyance, and the offending behavior does not recur and there is no other corrective action within one year from issuance, the original document will be delivered to the employee at the end of one year from the time of issuance. NOTE: Records of counseling and/or written reprimands based upon a serious breach of conduct which is of a criminal nature, or compromises the health and/or safety of any individual, or is issued by the Special Investigative Unit shall be grievable beyond step II. and will not be forwarded to the employee's District personnel file until completion of the grievance procedure (if exercised). When the employee leaves the District, the file maintained in the principal's or director's office may remain there for up to three (3) years or be destroyed if the principal leaves the school within the three (3) year period. No item from an anonymous source may be placed in the personnel file.

An employee has the right to answer in writing any materials in his/her personnel file. An employee has the right to request that the Superintendent or his designee make an informal inquiry regarding material in his personnel file which the employee believes to be false. The official who makes the inquiry shall append to the material a written report of his findings.

- B. Letter(s) of reprimand, letters of complaints from any source, or other items detrimental to an employee's employment status, shall not be placed into an employee's personnel file until the employee has had an opportunity to read and/or sign the item. An employee's refusal to sign

any such item does not restrict the right of the Board to place these items into the appropriate personnel file. The employee's signature shall indicate only that he/she has read the item and shall not necessarily indicate agreement with its contents unless otherwise indicated. The employee shall have the right to respond to any item(s) to be placed in his/her personnel file and to have the response attached to such item(s).

- C. Each employee shall have the right, upon request, to review and reproduce any contents of his/her personnel file. A representative of the ~~Association~~ BTU-ESP may accompany the employee in such review and may, upon written authorization by the affected employee, review and reproduce any contents of an employee's personnel file.

The School Board shall charge the employee or representative for all copies requested and duplicated. The rate shall be established by the School Board.

ARTICLE 8

Employee Evaluation

- A. **Purpose:** One or more performance evaluations of employees shall be conducted in accordance with the procedure herein to appraise effectiveness in the performance of assigned duties and responsibilities; to improve performance; recognize superior performance, identify job performance problems; improve communications between administrators and employees; and to provide timely and accurate information which may be used in the making of personnel decisions related to employee performance.
- B. **Procedure:**
1. Within each school or center, the administrator or his/her administrative designee shall be responsible for evaluation of employees assigned to that school or center. Observations by a teacher may form part of the evaluation, provided that teacher has worked directly with the employee in the educational setting during the evaluation period. Evaluation of employees by any other persons shall not be conducted or condoned by the Board or District Administrator, nor will any action be taken against an employee based on such unauthorized evaluation. When teacher input indicates need for improvement, an administrative observation will be conducted as in B-4(a) of this Article.
 2. Each new bargaining unit member shall be given a copy of the evaluation form as set forth in Appendix B on or before September 30 of each year. Employees hired after September 30 shall be given a copy of the evaluation form within fifteen (15) workdays after the first day of work.
 3. Evaluations shall be conducted between October 15 and not later than one (1) week prior to the end of the school year for every permanent full-time and part-time employee. Permanent employees shall be evaluated at least once during the school year. Employees who were rated "Needs Improvement" on their last evaluation and who are reappointed, shall be evaluated during the last semester of the next school year.
 4. a. When classroom observations are conducted by the principal or administrative designee, employees shall be observed for the purpose of evaluation. When a teacher indicates to a principal/administrator that an employee's classroom performance needs improvement or is unsatisfactory, the

principal/administrator must observe the employee for a minimum of thirty (30) minutes. If after the classroom observation, the principal/administrator agrees with the teacher, a follow up conference with the employee will be conducted within ten (10) working days.

- b. Principals may conduct observations other than those specifically required at any time during the school year. Any such observations which are to be used for evaluation purposes shall be recorded on the evaluation form.
5. The contents of the evaluation form shall be the same as Appendix B attached.
6. Prior to the evaluator's completing the evaluation form, he/she shall conduct a post-observation conference to discuss the observation and the employee's performance. After such discussion and upon completion of the formal evaluation, the evaluator and the employee shall sign the report, with a copy to the employee before it is placed in the employee's personnel file.

The evaluator shall explain to the employee what actions may be expected if performance does not improve. In addition, the administrator shall establish a time period for employee remediation. At the completion of that date, the evaluator shall meet with the affected employee.

7. Upon request of the employee, the evaluator shall schedule a follow-up conference at which time the employee may be represented. Any change in the evaluation as a result of this conference shall result in the evaluation form being redone and attached to the original if the original is already in the employee's official personnel file. The final evaluation shall be treated in a manner consistent with this Article.
8. Failure or refusal of an employee to achieve a satisfactory level of performance or to meet the requirements of his/her job description and duties shall be adequate justification for termination of employment. Any dismissal of an employee based on unsatisfactory performance shall be limited to the causes specified in the employee's Notice of Dismissal under Article 6, Section F of this Agreement.
9. **Employee Response:** If the employee objects to the contents of his/her evaluation, he/she may place such objections in writing

and attach it to the evaluation form within ten (10) days from the date of the evaluation conference.

- C. **Probationary Period:** Any probationary employee not given written notification of a dismissal on or before the end of the employee's probationary period shall become a permanent employee.

ARTICLE 9
Employee Discipline

- A. No regular/permanent employee shall be reprimanded, disciplined, or suspended for misconduct without just cause. When a request for such representation is made, no action shall be taken with respect to the employee until such representative of the PPA BTU-ESP is present. It is the employee's responsibility to have a PPA BTU-ESP representative present within three (3) working days of such request.
- B. **Harrassment:** Employees should not be subjected to harassment, abusive language, upbraiding or insults. Administrators shall not be considered in violation of this section when providing input during a performance evaluation meeting with an employee.

Administrators should not express unnecessary complaints or criticisms concerning an employee in the presence of other employees, students, or parents.

The District and its employees shall comply with the School Board approved policy regarding Anti-Bullying and Harassment.

ARTICLE 10
Holidays

- A. During the term of this Agreement, the school calendars for bargaining unit members shall include six (6) paid holidays, except for bargaining unit members on a twelve (12) month calendar, in which case holidays and days off shall be observed as provided in the employee's calendar.
- B. Pay for holidays observed by employees on the active payroll shall be computed on the basis of the employee's regular scheduled hours of work and calendar.
- C. The Board agrees to annually consult with the ~~PPA~~ BTU-ESP President/Designee, prior to the adoption of the school year calendar, for the purpose of giving input from ~~paraprofessionals~~ education support professionals.

ARTICLE 11
Emergency School Closing

The Superintendent of Schools shall exercise full authority granted under Section 1001.42, 1973, Florida Statutes as amended, to close any or all schools during an emergency. When emergencies arise and the Superintendent decides to close any or all schools, the Superintendent shall immediately notify the School Board of the action taken and the reason therefore and immediately implement administrative procedures which will include announcements over local television and radio stations which such services are made available, in order to alert personnel, students, parents and the community.

Nothing in this Article shall require the Board to keep schools open in the event of severe inclement weather or when otherwise prevented by an act of God and nothing shall require ~~paraprofessionals~~ educational support professionals to report to work in such circumstances.

When one (1) or more schools or school offices are officially closed by the Superintendent, the employees are not required to report; no leave days previously arranged by an employee will be deducted for such emergency days.

When the emergency closing results in a day or days off for employees, necessary amendments to the calendar shall be made to coincide with the amendments to the calendar for instructional personnel. During the time of a declared emergency, ~~paraprofessionals~~ educational support professionals shall be eligible for Declared Emergency Leave in accordance with School Board Policy 4412.

ARTICLE 12

Leaves

- A. **Sick Leave:** Any ~~paraprofessionals~~ educational support professionals employed on a permanent basis who is unable to perform his/her duty in the school because of illness, or because of illness or death of father, mother, brother, sister, husband, wife, child, other close relative or member of his/her own household, and consequently has to be absent from his/her work, shall be granted leave of absence for sickness by the Superintendent, or by someone designated in writing by him to do so. The following provisions shall govern leave:
1. Each ~~paraprofessional~~ educational support professional on a full-time permanent basis shall be entitled to four (4) days of sick leave as of the first day of employment of each contract year and shall earn one (1) day of sick leave for each month of employment, which shall be credited to the ~~paraprofessional~~ educational support professional at the end of that month, and which shall not be used prior to the time it is earned and credited to the employee. If the ~~paraprofessional~~ educational support professional terminates, resigns or retires prior to accruing the four (4) days of sick leave, the School Board shall withhold the employee's daily rate for the leave days used but not earned by the employee. The ~~paraprofessional~~ educational support professional shall be entitled to earn no more than one (1) day of sick leave times the number of months of employment during the year of employment. Such leave shall be taken only when necessary because of sickness as herein prescribed. Such sick leave shall be cumulative from year to year. There shall be no limit on the number of days of sick leave an ~~paraprofessional~~ educational support professional may accrue. ~~Paraprofessionals~~ Educational support professionals who are temporarily absent from school for any reason shall, if possible, notify the principal or his/her designee at least two (2) hours prior to school openings. Failure to call and report absence(s) may be considered an unexcused absence and may be cause for disciplinary action.
 2. An employee shall have the right to use sick leave in half-day or full-day units, for the purpose of medical or dental appointments.
 3. If an immediate supervisor suspects an abuse of sick leave, he or she shall first investigate the matter and discuss the findings with the affected employee.

An abuse of sick leave is defined as a pattern or series of absences which occur over an extended period of time, and on a regular and predictable basis and without adequate justification. For example, a regular and predictable basis would be: sick leave being used as soon as earned; absence on only Mondays or Fridays; absences occurring on the days before or after a holiday period; absences occurring on the day after payday on a regular basis.

If the investigation sustains that a documented pattern of abuse does exist the employee may be subject to disciplinary action as per Article 9.

B. **Personal Reasons Leave:** Bargaining unit members shall be granted up to four (4) days leave each school year for personal reasons. However, such absences for personal reasons shall be charged only to accrued sick leave, and leave for personal reasons shall be noncumulative. Unit members shall not be required to give reasons for personal reasons leave, except that the leave is for "personal reasons."

1. Notification of intent to use personal reasons leave shall be submitted to the administrator no later than twenty-four (24) hours prior to the day the employee wishes to have off, except for an emergency, as determined by the principal.
2. Personal reasons leave shall not be granted on the day preceding or following a holiday, the week prior to or during FCAT Testing, nor during the first or last week of school, except in emergency situations. This may only be waived by mutual agreement between the affected employee and the principal. Employees leave requests during these excluded periods shall not be unreasonably denied.

C. **Terminal Pay:** Any employee at retirement or his/her beneficiary if service is terminated by death, shall be provided terminal pay.

1. Such terminal pay shall not exceed an amount determined as follows:
 - a. During the first three (3) years of service:
 1. The affected employee's daily rate of pay on July 1, 1994, multiplied by 35 percent multiplied by the number of unused sick leave days held on July 1, 1994.

2. The affected employee's daily rate of pay at the time sick leave is earned times 35 percent times the number of days of accumulated sick leave earned after July 1, 1994.
- b. During the fourth (4th) through sixth (6th) years of service:
 1. The affected employee's daily rate of pay on July 1, 1994, multiplied by 40 percent multiplied by the number of unused sick leave days held on July 1, 1994.
 2. The affected employee's daily rate of pay at the time sick leave* is earned multiplied by 40 percent multiplied by the number of accumulated sick leave earned after July 1, 1994.
 - c. During the seventh (7th) through ninth (9th) years of service:
 1. The affected employee's daily rate of pay on July 1, 1994, multiplied by 45 percent multiplied by the number of unused sick leave days held on July 1, 1994.
 2. The affected employee's daily rate of pay at the time sick leave* is earned multiplied by 45 percent multiplied by the number of days of accumulated sick leave earned after July 1, 1994.
 - d. During the tenth (10th) through the twelfth (12th) year of service:
 1. The affected employee's daily rate of pay on July 1, 1994, multiplied by 50 percent multiplied by the number of unused sick leave days on July 1, 1994.
 2. The affected employee's daily rate of pay at the time sick leave* is earned multiplied by 50 percent multiplied by the number of days of accumulated sick leave earned after July 1, 1994.
 - e. During and after the 13th year of service:

1. The affected employee's daily rate of pay on July 1, 1994, multiplied by the number of unused sick leave days held on July 1, 1994.
 2. The affected employee's daily rate of pay at the time sick leave is earned* multiplied by the number of days of accumulated sick leave earned after July 1, 1994.
- f. No employee who meets the eligibility requirements listed above may receive any compensation for sick leave payments unless they sign and execute the Payment of Sick Leave Upon Retirement Agreement provided by the Superintendent. This agreement requires the retiring Board employee to seek, accept and cash the first retirement benefit check issued by the Florida Retirement System. The employee must qualify for "normal retirement" which under this policy shall mean retirement under plan A, B, C, D, E under the Florida Retirement System or any other plan established by the Legislature with either full or reduced benefits as provided by law. Normal retirement shall not be interpreted to include disability retirement.

*Note: At the time sick leave is earned shall be interpreted to mean the value of sick leave at the end of each school year or at the time the affected employee retires, whichever comes first.

- D. **Illness in the Line of Duty:** Any permanent ~~paraprofessional~~ educational support professional shall be entitled to illness-in-line-of-duty leave with pay when he/she has to be absent from his/her duties because of personal injury received in the discharge of duty or because of illness from any contagious or infectious disease contracted in school work. Such leave shall be in addition to any other leave to which the employee may be entitled, and such leave shall not be cumulative. Each employee shall be entitled to at least ten (10) days of such leave, but additional leave day may be granted by the Board.

Any employee absent on such leave shall reimburse the Board for any Worker's Compensation payments received for the period. Paid holidays, occurring during such leave, shall not be included in the computation of the number of days with respect to when such leave is applicable. A substantiating statement by a physician and a corroborating statement by the principal shall be required prior to approval of said leave, except that the corroborating statement of the principal may be subject to the grievance procedure.

- E. **Maternity/Personal:** A personal or maternity leave without pay and not to exceed one year shall be granted to an employee for the purpose of childbearing and/or child rearing, as follows:
1. An employee may continue to be actively employed during pregnancy only so long as the employee is properly able to perform required duties and responsibilities.
 2. All or any portion of leave taken by an employee because of medical disability connected with or resulting from the pregnancy may, at the employee's option, be charged to the employee's available sick leave.
 3. An employee shall be entitled, upon request, to personal leave to begin at any time between the birth of the child and up to one (1) year thereafter.
- F. **Legal Commitments:** Employees shall be granted leave for legal commitments and shall receive their regular salary while serving as jurors or witnesses under subpoena. If released by 12 noon, the employee shall contact his/her principal for possible assignment that day.
- G. **Computation of Pay For Leave:** Paid leave for each employee shall be computed on the basis of the employee's regularly scheduled hours of work and assigned calendars.
- H. **Military Reserve Leave:** Any employee who is a member of national military reserve unit or National Guard shall be allowed up to seventeen (17) days leave without loss of pay or other accumulated leave, when ordered to active duty by the appropriate unit during the regular term. An employee required to report for a physical examination under any selective service law shall be granted leave without loss of pay or other accumulated leave for time required for this obligation.
- I. **Military Duty Leave:** Any employee required or volunteering to serve in the Armed Forces of the United States shall be granted leave without pay for such service. Any employee returning from such leave shall be returned to employment, without prejudice, provided application for reemployment is filed within six (6) months following the date of discharge or release from active military duty, and provided further that the School Board shall have up to six (6) months to reassign the employee to duty in the school system.

- J. **Personal Leave:** An employee may be granted, upon request, personal leave without pay for a period not to exceed one (1) school year for reasons not provided elsewhere in this Agreement provided the employee has completed three (3) consecutive years of service.
- K. **Fringe Benefits During Leave:** Any employee granted a leave of absence with or without pay as provided in this Article shall be given the opportunity, unless otherwise provided, to continue insurance coverages in existing school programs and, with the approval of the retirement system, to continue participation in the retirement system during the leave, provided that the premiums for such insurance programs shall be paid by the employee on a monthly basis in advance of the month due. Any such employee may serve as a temporary employee in the District while on leave.
- L. **Temporary Duty Leave:** Temporary duty leave may be granted to employees by the principal or supervisor equivalent in rank for the purpose of:
1. Attending and/or participating in professional meetings relating to educational workshops, seminars or conferences sponsored by professional organizations, colleges, universities or government or private agencies concerned with public school matters.
 2. Visitation for the purpose of observing instructional techniques or programs.
- M. **Early Termination of Leave:** An employee on extended Board approved leave may apply for an early return to Board employment prior to expiration of such leave. The approval for said request shall be at the discretion of the Superintendent.
- N. **Return from Leave:** Upon return from a leave granted under this Article, an employee shall be assigned to his/her former classification. The School Board shall make an effort to return said employee to his/her former position.
- O. **ASSOCIATION BTU-ESP Leave:** The ~~Association~~ BTU-ESP president and designee(s) shall be provided up to a combined total of thirty (30) days of leave without pay for the purpose of conducting ~~Association~~ BTU-ESP business. The ~~Association~~ BTU-ESP president shall notify the Employee Relations Director five (5) working days in advance of the requested leave day. The president shall also inform the Employee Relations Director the purpose and nature of the leave. No more than three (3) consecutive workdays of leave may be utilized by an employee at

one time. This leave must be taken in full day increments. It is understood that such leave shall not be unreasonably denied; however, the School Board may deny the leave at the requested time due to the needs of the employee's school/work location. This leave shall not be used by the ~~Association~~ BTU-ESP for the purpose of campaigning in a representational or de-certification election.

When approved ~~Association~~ BTU-ESP leave is utilized, the district shall submit an invoice for the actual cost for such employee's salary and benefits and the ~~Association~~ BTU-ESP shall reimburse the Board for said costs.

P. **Sick Leave Bank:** The parties mutually agree to establish a Sick Leave Bank (hereafter referred to as the Bank) for employees. Participation in the Bank shall be voluntary. The Bank shall be made operational as soon after the ratification of this contract as possible. The Bank shall be governed by the following procedures:

1. **Creation of the Bank:** The Bank will be established providing that two hundred (200) days have been deposited (one [1] per full-time employee), during an enrollment period extending thirty (30) calendar days from the date such enrollment period is announced to employees. Subsequently, employees may enroll in the Bank only within thirty (30) calendar days of the beginning of the official school year.
2. **Membership Requirements:** Membership in the Bank is voluntary and revocable upon sixty (60) days written notice to the School Board's Employee Relations Department. Days deposited however, shall remain in the Sick Leave Bank even if an employee decides to cease participation in the Sick Leave Bank. Full-time employees who have been employed full-time for at least one (1) full year, and who have sick leave accrual of ten (10) days at the time of enrollment, may enroll in the Sick Leave Bank by contributing one (1) day of sick leave to the Bank. At the time of the contribution, the sick leave day shall be converted to a monetary sum by multiplying the day donated times the donor's daily rate of pay when contributed.
3. **Sick Leave Bank Committee:** The Committee shall be appointed by the ~~Association~~ BTU-ESP for the purpose of administering the Sick Leave Bank. The Committee shall:
 - (a) Maintain adequate records relative to all functions of the Bank.

- (b) Operate the Bank in accordance with rules and procedures mutually agreed to by the parties. However, the Superintendent shall establish and the ~~Association~~ BTU-ESP will comply with procedures for identifying and recording contributions to and withdrawals from the Bank. The parties authorize the Committee to establish additional administrative procedures necessary for the operation of the Bank as long as said procedures are consistent with and do not change any of the criteria contained in Section P of this Article.
 - (c) Approve/Disapprove all requests for withdrawal from the Sick Leave Bank.
 - (d) Not grant more sick leave days than are available in the Bank.
4. **Withdrawal Rights and Procedures:** In the event of catastrophic illness or injury of a participating member necessitating the employee's absence from work over an extended period of time, a participating member may receive paid leave under the following conditions:
- (a) A withdrawal may be approved only upon the total depletion of the respective employee's accumulated sick leave and vacation leave. In addition, the affected employee must have exhausted or be ineligible for any type of leave granted by the Board related to the accident, illness or injury.
 - (b) The maximum withdrawal for any employee for one (1) illness or injury or complications thereof shall be fifty (50) days.
 - (c) An employee may apply to the Committee for a withdrawal in advance of the depletion of such employee's accumulated sick leave, to be granted, if needed, upon such depletion.
 - (d) Withdrawals shall be in full day units and must be for a minimum of five (5) consecutive days.
 - (e) All applications for withdrawal shall be in writing and shall be verified by the Committee. All applications shall be accompanied with a certificate of illness from a licensed physician or from the county health officer. The Committee

may submit a request to the Superintendent concerning the implementation of the Bank.

- (f) The salary of a member participating in the Bank will be reduced by any benefits drawn from Workers' Compensation or disability income.
- (g) When days are awarded from the Bank, they will be withdrawn at the receiving party's daily rate of pay.
- (h) The Bank shall not be used for cosmetic surgery.
- (i) The Bank shall be used only for personal illness or injury of the participating member.
- (j) The Sick Leave Bank may be used for complications during pregnancy/delivery, but shall not be used for maternity leave. Applicants may be asked to provide additional information to the Sick Leave Bank committee.
- (k) The Sick Leave Bank shall not be used for purposes of elective surgery when such procedures could be safely performed during non-working times.
- (l) Those applicants with an undetermined recovery period may be asked to provide the Sick Leave Bank committee with intermittent verification of illness.
- (m) The Committee may request a second medical opinion at the applicant's expense.
- (n) Applications will only be approved for an illness or injury which occurred during that fiscal year (July 1st - June 30th).
- (o) Applications for withdrawal can be obtained from the Employee Relations Department by calling 765-6252754-321-2140.

5. Maintenance of the Bank:

- (a) Once the Bank is established, there shall be no requirement for an employee to replace the sick leave days withdrawn from the Sick Leave Bank, except as equally required of all other participating employees. If the Bank is depleted to a point where only four thousand dollars (\$4,000) remains, all

members of the Bank shall contribute one (1) day each time the Bank is depleted to this level.

- (b) A participating employee who chooses to no longer participate in the Sick Leave Bank shall not be allowed to withdraw any sick leave already contributed to the Sick Leave Bank.
- 6. **Duration:** The Sick Leave Bank shall remain in existence for the duration of this contract and may be renewed in succeeding contracts.
- 7. **Indemnification:** The ~~Association~~ BTU-ESP and members of the bargaining unit shall indemnify and hold the Board and all administrators harmless against any and all claims, demands, suits, or other forms of liability and all court costs arising out of the application of the provisions of this section.
- 8.
 - (a) Board produced eligibility forms should be sent to only those not in the Sick Leave Bank when additional members are sought for initial enrollment.
 - (b) The Board shall send to the ~~Association~~ BTU-ESP a complete list of eligible employees by the end of the first pay period in October.
 - (c) The Board shall notify the ~~Association~~ BTU-ESP of new enrollees within thirty (30) calendar days of the close of open enrollment.
 - (d) The Board shall send to the ~~Association~~ BTU-ESP an updated sick leave balance statement on a regular basis.
- Q. **Donation of Sick Leave to a Family Member:** An employee may donate to or receive from a qualified member of his/her family earned and accrued sick leave in accordance with the following procedures:
 - 1. Qualified family members is defined as a spouse, child, parent, brother or sister who is also employed by the Board.
 - 2. Day/times may not be donated until such time as the recipient has depleted his/her own sick leave and vacation accrual, excluding sick leave pool in which he/she is a participant.

3. Donated days/time shall not be utilized for the purpose of terminal pay or any other program and/or provision that provides pay for accrued sick leave.
4. Donated days/time shall not be utilized for the purpose of personal reasons leave nor shall it be utilized for purpose of meeting requirements for membership in the Sick Leave Bank.
5. Employees shall comply with procedures contained in School Board policy for the donation of sick leave to a family member regarding the exchange of sick leave, the calculation of payments, notification requirements, and other matters not covered in this section.
6. This benefit shall remain in effect as long as State Statute requires. Should State Statute be repealed, the School district shall not be required to continue this benefit.

R. **Bereavement Leave (Sick Leave):** Any employee who suffers the death of an immediate family member shall be granted bereavement leave in the following manner:

1. If the funeral is to be held within 250 miles of the employee's home – the employee shall be allowed to utilize a maximum of four (4) days of sick leave for bereavement purposes.
2. If the funeral is to be held more than 250 miles from the employee's home – the employee shall be allowed to utilize a maximum of five (5) days of sick leave for bereavement purposes.
3. For the purposes of bereavement leave, an immediate family member shall be defined as the spouse, domestic cohabitant, child, stepchild, grandchild, mother, father, sister, brother, parents of domestic cohabitant, mother-in-law, father-in-law, grandmother, grandfather, daughter-in-law, son-in-law, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, domestic cohabitant's sibling(s), grandparents of employee's spouse, grandparents of employee's domestic cohabitant and any other relative residing in the employee's household. Proof of relationship to the deceased may be required.
4. The Board may require proof of death, within thirty (30) days after Bereavement Leave is taken. A copy of the newspaper obituary or the funeral card/program for the deceased are examples of acceptable proof of death.

5. Bereavement leave shall not affect the employee's perfect attendance for the purpose of sick leave buy back.

S. **Sick Leave Buy Back:** To encourage and reward employees who maintain good job attendance, the parties agree to the following incentive award:

Employees who utilize two (2) sick leave days or less each assigned school calendar year and year-round employees who utilize three (3) sick leave days or less during each assigned school calendar year - upon request - shall receive payment for up to eight (8) days of sick leave, provided the employee worked the full assigned calendar year.* The following procedures apply to the payment of sick leave under this section.

1. An employee must have a minimum of twenty-five (25) days of accumulated sick leave remaining after the payment for unused sick leave under this section.
2. The payment of this incentive shall be paid to eligible employees no later than October 31st of the school year following the school year in which the employee qualified for the incentive pay.
3. For purposes of this section, sick leave shall be defined pursuant to all sections of F.S.1012.61.
4. Days for which such award payment is received shall be deducted from the accumulated leave balance.
5. Payment shall be equal to the number of eligible days times the affected employees daily rate of base pay times eighty percent (80%).

T. **Earned Annual Leave:** All unit employees working on a calendar that is 241, 242, 243, or greater shall be eligible for annual leave. Employees shall accrue annual leave according to the following provisions:

1. All requests shall receive prior approval and signed by the Administrator or immediate Supervisor. Requests shall not be unreasonably denied.
2. Eligible employees shall accrue leave according to the following schedule on an annual basis:

- a. Five (5) complete years of service or less – one (1) day per month.
 - b. More than five (5) complete years of service, but less than ten (10) complete years of service – one and one quarter (1.25) days per month.
 - c. Ten (10) complete years of service or more – one and one-half (1.5) days per month.
 - d. Fifteen (15) complete years of service or more – two (2) days per month.
3. Total accrued vacation may not exceed fifty (50) days from one (1) fiscal year to the next.
4. An employee who is hired prior to the fifteenth (15th) of the month shall be given credit for earned annual leave for that month. Any employee hired prior to January 1 shall receive a year of service toward earned annual leave for that year. Annual leave time may be used as earned with prior approval. At the end of each fiscal year, unused annual leave shall be carried forward to the following year.
5. Permanent, part-time employees shall earn a pro-rata share of earned annual leave for a full-time employee.

ARTICLE 13
Assignments, Vacancies, Transfers, and Promotions
Vacancies, Reappointments, Assignments, Reassignments, Summer
School Vacancies, Promotions, and Transfers

- BA. Vacancies:** The Superintendent shall post in all school offices and faculty rooms, notice of all vacancies, which shall include a description of the job, the date the vacancy will occur, the length of the calendar work year, the qualifications required and the school in which the vacancy exists. A vacancy shall be deemed to have occurred when a permanent employee is sought to fill a permanent position. Such posting shall be made and shall remain posted for at least seven (7) working days before the vacancy is to be permanently filled.
- B. Reappointments:** Employees shall be notified of their reappointment status at least 30 calendar days prior to the end of the school year. Reappointment notification shall include:
1. Job classification
 2. Work calendar
 3. Work hours
 4. Location
 5. School year
- AC. Assignments:** Assignments within the building shall be made by the principal or his/her administrative designee. Employees may discuss their preference for assignment with the principal. The principal or his/her administrative designee shall have the responsibility of directing and supervising the work of all employees. Absent any unforeseen circumstances, administration will strive to apprise employees of their assignment at least two (2) weeks prior to the start of the upcoming calendar school year. The duties and responsibilities of employees (including probationary employees) shall be those enumerated in approved job descriptions and/or School Board Policy, or in accordance with Federal guidelines, where applicable, unless amended by this Agreement. A complete list of all applicable job descriptions will be furnished to the ~~Association~~ BTU-ESP and thereafter all new job descriptions upon final submission to the Board and upon the final approval by the Board within thirty (30) days.

The district shall seek volunteers for the inclusion program. ~~However, if~~ If no ~~paraprofessional~~ education support professional volunteers, the administration shall assign the ~~paraprofessional~~ education support professional having the least amount of seniority to this program for the duration of the school year.

ED. Reassignments:

1. Reassignment is defined as a change in work location within the school. Employees who desire to be reassigned shall file a written statement with his/her school principal. Voluntary requests for reassignment shall receive first consideration to the extent that vacancies exist within the building/location. Involuntary reassignments shall be made at the discretion of the principal provided the authority is exercised in a professional and fair manner, not arbitrary nor capricious.
2. Employees requesting reassignment shall be notified in writing of the administration's action on such request as soon as action is taken.
3. An employee who receives an "Unsatisfactory" on their overall annual performance evaluation shall be ineligible for a transfer.
- Đ. 4. An employee shall not be solely reassigned or reclassified during the term of this Agreement on the basis of the amount of salary of the employee.

E. Summer School/Super Session Vacancies: ~~Paraprofessional~~
Education support professional summer school and year round school "super session" positions shall be filled according to the following procedure:

1. Bargaining unit members working at schools or centers which are designated by the Board as summer schools or year round schools, shall have the first opportunity to fill the summer school or super session vacancies at their center. Applicants will complete the "Summer Term/Super Session Employment Preference Form" (Appendix I) and return it to the school principal no later than seven (7) days prior to the last student day of the school year/track. If there are more applicants than positions, employment shall be based on the highest seniority in the bargaining unit of each applicant at the center, excluding employees working in the bilingual program who are fluent in a second language or employees working the exceptional educational programs who have participated in inservice or equivalent training in the area, or closely related area of exceptionality (i.e. speech, language, autism, behavior, Child Development Association (CDA), medical and/or augmentative communication training. Employees

may elect to work six (6) weeks or three (3) weeks as indicated on the Summer Term/Super Session Employment Preference Form. (Super Session 2 week duration)

2. If there are additional vacancies after subsection 1., above, is complete, those vacancies shall be filled by paraprofessionals education support professionals who have indicated through their school principal then submitted to the Non-instructional Personnel Department that they desire summer school or super session employment. Those paraprofessionals education support professionals having the highest seniority shall be hired first.

F. **Promotions Job Progression:** An automatic progression of a Classroom Assistant or Teacher Assistant to a position in which s/he will earn a higher rate of pay per hour (i.e.: Classroom Assistant to Certified Classroom Assistant or Teacher Assistant to Certified Teacher Assistant).

1. An education support professional will automatically progress within the bargaining unit based on satisfying one of the following requirements:
 - a. An Associate of Arts or Associate of Science Degree from a two-year accredited college or satisfactory completion (C or above) of at least 60 semester hours of college credit, or its equivalent from an accredited college; or
 - b. Satisfactory completion of the Teacher Assistant Program at a Broward County Technical Center combined with achievement of a passing score on either the Para Pro Assessment test or other officially sanctioned standard test.
 - c. Achievement of a passing score on either the Para Pro Assessment test or other officially sanctioned standard test.

~~FG.~~ **Promotions:** ~~A promotion shall be defined as †The assignment advancement of an employee to a position in which he/she will earn a higher job classification rate of pay per hour (i.e. teacher aide to teacher assistant Classroom Assistant to a Teacher Assistant or Brace Advisor higher position).~~

- ~~1. A paraprofessional will be considered for promotion within the bargaining unit based on satisfying one of the following requirements:~~

- a. ~~An Associate of Arts or Associate of Science Degree from a two-year accredited college or satisfactory completion (C or above) of at least 60 semester hours of college credit, or its equivalent from an accredited college.; or~~
 - b. ~~Satisfactory completion of the Teacher Assistant Program at a Broward County Vocational Center.~~
 - e. ~~The completion of the above referenced training programs shall receive equal weight when considering employees for promotion.~~
21. If more ~~paraprofessionals~~ education support professionals apply than there are positions, attendance and reliability and seniority in the district, shall be the criteria considered by the principal in awarding the promotion.
32. An employee who receives an "Unsatisfactory" on their overall annual performance evaluation shall be ineligible for a promotion.
43. If an administrator, at his/her sole discretion, wants to promote a permanent ~~paraprofessional~~ education support professional unit employee of his/her staff to a position in the bargaining unit at the same work location, providing the employee is qualified for the position, there will be no need to advertise that position district-wide. However, the position will be posted within the school.
54. When the employee receives a promotion under the provisions of this Article, ~~he/she~~ s/he will serve a maximum evaluation period not to exceed twenty (20) work days, and shall be paid at the rate of pay of the position formerly held by the promoted employee. At the completion of the evaluation period, should the employee's performance be deemed unacceptable, the employee shall return to his/her former position and pay rate at the work site. If the employee's performance is satisfactory in the position to which promoted during the evaluation period, and he/she remains in that position, the pay will be at the rate of the promotional position, retroactive to the initial date of the promotion. The supervisor may recommend a waiver of the evaluation period or a reduction in the evaluation period. Such written recommendation shall be sent to the Director of Non-instructional Staffing who has the authority to approve or disapprove the recommendation.

GH. Transfers:

1. **Hardship Transfers:** An eligible employee may submit a written request for a hardship transfer to the Human Resources Department. Any employee who has received an "Unsatisfactory" on their overall annual performance evaluation shall be ineligible for a transfer. For this section, a "hardship" shall be a situation when ~~a paraprofessional~~ an education support professional has completed a year of service with the district and:
 - a. ~~An employee who meets the "hardship" definition will be guaranteed an interview for a Board determined vacancy at one (1) of the three (3) schools the employee selects. Employees requesting a medical/personal problem hardship shall be granted up to three (3) interviews per year. However, a principal/administrator shall not be required to interview more than the three (3) most senior "hardship" qualified employees. Travels 20 miles or more one-way, by the most direct route within Broward County limits to the assigned work location; or~~
 - b. ~~The Superintendent may review travel hardships and determine if a specific request constitutes an emergency. If a travel hardship is considered an emergency, it may be treated like a medical/personal problem hardship for purposes of transfer and application timelines. Has a serious medical and/or personal problem which can be substantiated by a Board selected physician or acceptable written explanations as determined by the Superintendent. Employees meeting the criterion in this section may apply for a medical/personal problem transfer at any time and may be transferred after the start of the school year for students.~~
 - c. An employee who meets the "hardship" definition will be guaranteed an interview for a Board determined vacancy at one (1) of the five (5) schools the employee selects.
2. **Involuntary Transfers:** An involuntary transfer may be made when, in the judgment of the Superintendent/Designee, such a transfer is necessary for the good of the Board. When possible, the employee shall be given advance notice regarding such transfer. Involuntary transfers are not a demotion and no transfer under this provision shall result in a reduction in salary or other benefits provided in this agreement. Every reasonable effort shall be made to place the employee in their area (i.e. North Central, South, etc.). When selecting an employee for an involuntary transfer,

consideration will be given to the impact of the loss of additional positions (i.e. ~~Building Representatives~~ Stewards) held by the employee at the time of the transfer.

ARTICLE 14

Reduction in Force

In the event the Board determines that a number of employees must be reduced for any reason, such reduction in employees shall be based on objective, reasonable and nondiscriminatory standards which (1) shall not be arbitrary or capricious, (2) shall not deprive employees of other rights conferred by this agreement or laws of Florida and the United States, and (3) shall be capable of uniform application. The Board reserves the right to conduct a reduction in force (layoff) at any time in accordance with the provisions of this Article and Article II. If a reduction in employees is determined to be necessary, the following procedure shall be controlling:

A. Notification:

1. If a reduction of employees becomes necessary, written notification of the reduction shall be given to the ~~Association~~ BTU-ESP no later than ten (10) calendar days before the action is to become effective. The notification shall include the following information:
 - a. The reasons for the layoff.
 - b. The number of positions affected.
 - c. The names of employees to be laid off by site.
2. If reduction of employees becomes necessary, written notification of the reduction shall be given to the affected employee no later than ten (10) calendar days before the action is to become effective.
3. Upon receipt of notification of layoff, employee(s) may send to the Noninstructional Personnel Department an updated statement of qualifications and a correct address where communications and notice of recall are to be sent.

B. Order of Reduction:

1. When layoffs occur, a qualified employee at the work location having the longest unit seniority within each bargaining unit classification (~~teacher—aide~~ Classroom Assistant, Certified Classroom Assistant, Teacher Assistant, Certified Teacher Assistant) and those individual categories listed on the ~~Special Salary Program Assistant~~ Pay Schedule) affected, shall be laid off

last. "Qualified" shall apply to those employed working in the bilingual program who are fluent in a second language or employees working in exceptional educational programs who have participated in inservice or equivalent training in the area (i.e. speech, language, autism, behavior, Child Development Association (CDA), medical and/or augmentative communication training).

2. Whenever possible, ~~building representatives~~ stewards shall be given super seniority exemption from layoff. By March 1st, the ~~PPA~~ BTU-ESP will provide the Superintendent with a list of official ~~building representatives~~ stewards. Should the ~~building representatives~~ stewards vacate their position for any reason, the ~~PPA~~ BTU-ESP shall notify the Superintendent and provide a replacement name.

C. **Recall Procedure:** Permanent employees who have been laid off shall have the right of recall within their classification in the order of bargaining unit seniority when unit vacancies occur, provided the employee is qualified to perform the work. An employee who declines an offered vacancy that requires toileting responsibilities associated with a specific individual shall not have that offer count towards removal (C-6) below) from the layoff list.

1. As vacancies occur, the Personnel Department shall mail to all employees on the layoff recall list a notice of such vacancies.
2. The notice listing the vacancies shall include the total days in the annual employment calendar. Said vacancy list will be mailed to the employee's address on record at the time of his/her layoff. It is the responsibility of the employee to provide the Personnel Department with an accurate address. If the employee cannot be located at the address given and/or the letter is returned to the School Board by the U.S. Postal Service, the employee shall be removed from the recall list, and the individual will be no longer employed by the school district.
3. Employees on the layoff list may apply for the vacancy by sending a letter to the person listed on the vacancy notice within the specified time period.
4. When the deadline date specified on the notice of vacancy has passed, the vacancies shall be filled by selecting the most senior qualified employee who applied for such position.

5. If no employee applies for the vacancy or applies but is not qualified for the position, the principal/administrator may advertise such position to the public pursuant to Article XIII, Section B.
6. The right of recall shall not exceed one (1) year from the date of layoff. However, an employee who fails to apply for at least two (2) vacancies from a notice listing of at least three (3) vacancies for which they are qualified shall be removed from the layoff list and no longer employed by the school district. An employee, who applies for a vacancy and is offered the position and subsequently declines the position, shall be removed from the layoff list and no longer employed by the school district.
7. An ~~paraprofessional~~ education support professional who has been placed on a recall list shall have the option to return to the immediate past place of employment under the following conditions:
 - a. The vacancy at the previous work location must occur prior to the Full Time Equivalent (FTE) count in February.
 - b. The vacancy(ies) shall be filled by the most senior of the previous laid off employee(s) when said employee(s) is equally qualified as other applicants.
 - c. The previous employee must respond to the vacancy notice prior to the expiration date.

D. General Provision:

1. Any employee retained or recalled must be qualified to perform the job. Qualified shall apply to those employed working in the bilingual program who are fluent in a second language or employees working the exceptional educational programs who have participated in inservice or equivalent training in the area, or closely related area of exceptionality or prior experience in exceptional education programs.
2. No new appointments may be made while there are qualified laid-off employees available to fill the vacancies, except that vacancies may be filled immediately on a temporary or emergency basis until procedures in this Article Section C(5) can be implemented. An employee on the layoff list may accept temporary employment without forfeiting his/her place on this list.
3. An employee who accepts a permanent part-time or permanent full-time position shall be removed from the layoff list.

4. A ~~(Certified) Teacher~~ Assistant or an employee from the ~~Special Salary Program~~ Assistant job classifications who had previously held a position as a ~~teacher—aide~~ (Certified) Classroom Assistant who is laid off shall inform the Noninstructional Personnel Department as to whether he/she is interested in being recalled to a ~~teacher—aide~~ (Certified) Classroom Assistant position. Said notification shall be made not later than the last day of the school year, at which time the employee shall be placed on the ~~teacher—aide~~ (Certified) Classroom Assistant recall list in order of unit seniority. Should an employee be laid off prior to the end of the school year said employee shall immediately notify the Noninstructional Personnel Department of his/her election to be recalled to a ~~teacher—aide~~ (Certified) Classroom Assistant position. The employee shall be eligible for recall in only one job classification. A teacher assistant shall be removed from the ~~teacher—aide~~ (Certified) Classroom Assistant recall list pursuant to recall procedure C(6).
5. Employees on layoff pursuant to this Article shall be given the opportunity to continue insurance coverages in existing programs during the layoff provided that the premiums for such insurance program shall be paid by the employee on a monthly basis in advance of the month due.
6. Any employee who would have qualified for retirement during the reduction shall be allowed to complete that year so as to acquire needed service.
7. At the principal's sole discretion, a probationary employee may be placed on the layoff list at that location when a Reduction in Force occurs. The failure of a probationary employee to be placed on the layoff list during a reduction in force shall not be grievable. If said employee obtains a placement through the provisions contained herein, the employee's probation shall continue as prescribed in Article 1, Section B(6).

ARTICLE 15

INSURANCE

- A. **Coverage:** Benefits start the first of the month following one full paycheck. *NOTE: Upon implementation of Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP), benefits start the first of the month after thirty (30) days as a permanent employee.
- B. **Insurance:** The Board shall provide, without cost to each employee, Group Term Life Insurance equal to one and one-quarter (1 1/4) times the employee's annual salary, rounded to the next higher multiple of one thousand dollars (\$1,000), subject to a minimum of twenty thousand dollars (\$20,000) and a maximum of fifty thousand dollars (\$50,000). The employee shall have the option of purchasing at their own expense through payroll deduction, an additional amount of "group term" life insurance. Each employee may also, at the employee's expense through payroll deduction, purchase additional amounts of insurance for the employee, the employee's spouse, and/or the employee's dependent children.
- C. **Premium Amount:** The Board shall pay the following premiums for individual employee's health and dental insurance for the life of this contract.
 - 1. The premiums paid by the Board shall be to provide employee's elected group health insurance plan (HMO or PPO or Consumer Driven Plans) plus a maximum of \$10.80 per month toward dental insurance in accordance with the term and schedule of benefits in effect. The parties agree that the current insurance vendors may be deleted or new vendors added as providers as a result of future RFP health insurance awards.
 - a. The Board agrees to pay 100% of the health insurance premiums for HMO and Consumer Driven coverage for the individual employee for the term of this agreement.
 - b. The Board agrees to implement a straight leveling model for the payment of health insurance premiums.
 - 1. The Board's contribution for the straight leveling model will be determined by dividing the Board's estimated cost (as established by responses to RFP's received from insurance vendors) by the number of all

school board employees (excluding dependents) enrolled in one of the Board's health insurance plans.

2. If the monthly premium cost for health insurance coverage elected by an employee is less than the amount of the School Board's straight leveling contribution amount, the difference will be deposited into a cafeteria plan for the benefit of that employee.

The employee shall be responsible for paying any monthly premium cost above the Board's straight leveling contribution based upon the coverage selected by the employee. This does not include employees on HMO and Consumer Driven plan(s).

Example: If the School Board's straight leveling contribution is \$350.00 and the cost for the high HMO single coverage is \$312.00, the difference of \$38.00 will be deposited into a cafeteria plan.

2. After the Board has entered into a contract(s) with one or more vendors to provide group health insurance to bargaining unit members, during the fixed period of said contract(s) when premiums and benefit levels are established and guaranteed, the parties shall not modify established benefit levels or negotiate alternative benefit levels. However, if said contract(s) has options to renew the contract for one or more years beyond the established/guaranteed period, either party may demand negotiations through the Superintendent or designee to amend benefit levels for the specific purpose of cost containment, (e.g., co-payments, deductibles, etc.). All profit sharing funds returned by the health insurance carriers in accordance with the utilization targets delineated in the health insurance agreements with the Board shall be applied to offset the plan's dependent care coverage for the subsequent year.
3. An employee eligible for health insurance may volunteer to decline such insurance. Said employee shall be required to sign an affidavit indicating other medical coverage. Employees shall be responsible to maintain proof of continuing insurance. Employees choosing not to participate in the Board's health insurance program shall be reimbursed at a rate of seven hundred fifty dollars and no cents (\$750.00) per year. Said premiums shall be deposited into the employee's cafeteria plan in a manner consistent with the provisions of said plan.

4. All profit-sharing funds returned by the health insurance carriers in accordance with the utilization targets delineated in the health insurance agreements with the School Board shall be applied to offset the plan's dependent care coverage.
- D. **Disability Insurance:** The Board shall provide without cost to each employee Core Disability Income Insurance in accordance with terms and benefits in effect. Each employee shall have the option, at the employee's expense through payroll deduction to purchase Enhanced Disability Insurance.
- E. **Liability Insurance:** The Board shall provide Liability Insurance at no cost to employees in the amount of five hundred thousand dollars (\$500,000) for each employee in case of suit arising from or in the performance of the employee's duties.
- F. **Annuity Programs:** The Board shall make available to all employees through payroll deduction, tax deferred annuity programs with companies which qualify and are approved under guidelines and criteria established by the Board.
- G. **Rate Increase:** Written notice of the final rate increase in health and dental insurance for dependent coverage shall be provided to the ~~Broward County Paraprofessional Association~~ BTU-ESP within ten (10) days of the date the increase is made known to the Board.
- H. **Employee Reimbursement:** If employees are attacked or assaulted in the course of employment, the Board will insure or otherwise reimburse such employees for any loss, damage or destruction of clothing, or personal property up to two hundred fifty dollars ~~(\$200)~~ (\$250) per employee per school year upon verification to the principal, unless the employee is otherwise reimbursed.

If an employee's vehicle is damaged while on the property of a district school, the employee will be reimbursed for the damage not to exceed two hundred and fifty dollars (\$250) when it is determined that the damage was caused on School Board property. Such determination may be made by either a School Resource Officer, a School Security Specialist, or an SIU investigator (as determined by the Superintendent), witness testimony or apprehension of the person(s) responsible for the damage. A maximum of three thousand dollars (\$3,000) will be allocated to implement this Section ~~I~~ for the school year.

- I. **Group Insurance Plan:** Employees with a minimum of ten (10) years of service with the Board retiring prior to Medicare eligibility may elect to remain in the Group Insurance Program until eligible for Medicare; rates applicable to the entire group; the cost of such insurance shall be borne by the retiree, except that the Board shall provide without charge for collection and remittance of premiums for such insurance. Applications must be submitted within thirty (30) days of retirement.
- J. **Cafeteria Plan:** Employees who are full-time bargaining unit members including those on Board approved paid leave, but excluding those on sick leave or disability leave shall have access to the "Cafeteria Plan" established by the Board. Part-time unit members and members on unpaid Board approved leave are not eligible to participate in the program. The following criteria shall apply to the granting of cafeteria insurance benefits:
 - 1. The Board will provide twenty-five dollars (\$25) per month not to exceed three hundred dollars (\$300) per employee per school year. Employees hired after the commencement of the school year shall receive twenty five dollars (\$25) per month for each full month of employment.
 - 2. The specific benefit components of the cafeteria plan shall be contained in a booklet, which shall be distributed to all eligible employees.
- K. **Vision Insurance:** The Board shall provide a vision care program in accordance with the terms and benefits provided in the summary plan description.
- L. **Jurisdiction:** The Board and the Association agree that the Insurance Article shall be subject to annual negotiations through the Superintendent's Insurance Advisory Committee (SIAC).
- M. **Fourth Tier:** The parties agree to eliminate enrollment in the fourth tier dependent rate which is identified in insurance documents as the "children (both spouses School Board employees employed in the same plan)" effective at the conclusion of the open enrollment period (November, 1994) for the 1995 insurance plan year. Employees enrolled in the fourth tier prior to the date indicated above may remain in this tier until the time their employment with the School Board ends. Once all of the affected employees have left the employment of the Board, the fourth tier shall be eliminated.

- N. **Student Teaching:** The District shall pay the single coverage health insurance premium in the same manner prior to the commencement of the student teaching responsibilities for those paraprofessionals who are required to student teach in an effort to fulfill course requirements to become a teacher. The employee must be enrolled in a state certified program. No more than 25 employees shall be granted this benefit annually.

Employees taking advantage of this program will be required to sign a letter of commitment to teach in Broward County for 2 years.

Selection shall be based upon GPA; in the event of a tie, seniority shall prevail.

The parties will form a committee to develop all procedures, guidelines and other aspects governing the awarding of this benefit to paraprofessionals fulfilling the student teaching requirements in order to become teachers. Committee recommendations shall be subject to review and final approval by the Superintendent.

ARTICLE 16
Professional Development

- A. The parties agree to create a Professional Development Study Committee. The Superintendent shall appoint three (3) representatives and the ~~Association~~ BTU-ESP shall appoint three (3).
- B. The committee shall assess and identify the Professional Development needs of ~~paraprofessionals~~ educational support professionals. Also, the committee will recommend procedures for implementing Professional Development programs.
- C. The committee shall elect a chairperson, and meet at agreed-upon times and places. Other district personnel or consultants may appear before the committee. The Superintendent may arrange release time for committee meetings.
- D. The committee shall submit its recommendations to the Superintendent not later than May 1 of each school year.
- E. Upon prior approval by the principal/administrator, a ~~paraprofessionals~~ educational support professional(s) may be assigned to attend a designated district school Professional Development activity. In the event the ~~paraprofessionals~~ educational support professional(s) is assigned by the principal to attend a district school Professional Development activity on a non-workday, the ~~paraprofessionals~~ educational support professional(s) shall be paid his/her hourly rate for the hours attended at the workshop.
- F. **Early Release Time:** Efforts will be made by the district to provide training for the ~~paraprofessionals~~ educational support professionals during Early Release Days.
- G. **Inclusion:** When an IEP committee seeks a recommendation for inclusion, and training for employees is part of the IEP, a training component will be developed for all employees who have direct responsibility for students. Efforts will be made to provide the training within ten (10) days of the placement of the student.

ARTICLE 17
Wages

- A. For the 2008-2009 school year, the salaries shall increase an average of 3.25%. All employees shall be compensated in accordance with Appendix C and D, and E, and other applicable provisions of this Agreement.
 - 1. Probationary employees shall be compensated in accordance with Appendix C, ~~and D~~, and E, attached.
 - 2. An employee who receives an "Unsatisfactory" on their overall annual performance evaluation shall be ineligible for any negotiated salary increase for the subsequent school year and shall remain frozen at the rate of pay for the previous year.
- B. One (1) day more than half, the contract calendar shall constitute a year of experience on the salary schedule. The salary schedule, as well as the issue of step advancement, shall be part of the negotiations for each school year covered by this Agreement. In other words, step advancement is negotiable, not automatic.
- C. No experience credit in excess of that authorized by the salary schedule shall be given, although such credit previously granted by the Board will be retracted.
- D. The salary of any employee employed in excess of the 186 day work year shall be computed at a daily rate of 1/186th of the employees basic salary in accordance with the assigned hour times the number of days employed.
- E. Temporary employees shall be paid in accordance with School Board policy.
- F. Employees who utilize their private vehicles to travel on District business shall be compensated at the rates established in accordance with the Board Policy and Rules and Regulations.
- G. **Errors in Paycheck:**
 - 1. In the event of a mistake resulting in an overpayment to an employee, the employee shall be notified in writing of such overpayment which shall state the total amount overpaid and the reasons for the error. Upon notification, at the employee's option, such overpayment shall be recovered from one check or recovered from the remaining checks with an equal deduction being made from each check. In either case, such recovery shall not be made until the employee has received one additional check without such deductions being made. Employees shall contact the location contact person for an explanation of the error. If the location payroll contact person

cannot provide an explanation, the employee may contact the Payroll Department.

2. **Overpayment of \$100 or Less:** In the event of a mistake resulting in an overpayment to an employee, the employee shall be notified in writing of such overpayment which shall state the total amount overpaid and the reasons for the error. Upon notification, at the employee's option, such overpayment shall be recovered from one check or recovered from the remaining checks with an equal deduction being made from each check. In either case, such recovery shall not be made until the employee has received one additional check without such deductions being made.

Overpayments should be recouped in the calendar year in which it was discovered. However, if the financial burden in doing so would be excessive, the Superintendent/Designee may extend the repayment plan into the next fiscal/calendar year except for employees who are leaving the school system or are on a year long unpaid leave of absence.

3. **Underpayment:** In the event of a change which results in an underpayment to an employee, the employee shall be properly compensated. Employees shall contact the location payroll contact person for an explanation of the underpayment. If the payroll contact person cannot provide an explanation, the employee may schedule a meeting.
4. **Overpayment Greater than \$100.00 (except for former employees):**
 - a. The School Board may collect overpayments not to exceed two (2) years in duration from the date that the overpayment is discovered. For example, if an employee was overpaid for the last five years, the Board can only recover the most recent two years of the overpayment.
 - b. The Payroll Department shall notify the affected employee via a Notice of Salary Adjustment Form that an overpayment in excess of \$100.00 has occurred. The form will contain two payback options for the employee to select. If the employee finds one of the options acceptable, he/she shall complete the form and return it to the Payroll Department.
 - c. If the employee can verify inability to repay according to either of the options mentioned in subsection (b) above acceptable, he/she will check the box on the form requesting a meeting with the Payroll Department and return the signed form.

- d. If the affected employee requests the meeting referenced in subsection b above or does not return the signed form within five (5) workdays of receipt thereof, the Payroll Department shall set up a meeting with the affected employee for the purpose of determining how the overpayment will be recouped. The employee is entitled to be accompanied by a representative of his/her choice.
- e. Overpayments should be recouped in the calendar year in which it was discovered.
- f. The Superintendent/designee will determine the payback schedule and the amount of dollars per paycheck and notify the employee by certified mail prior to the first paycheck reduction.* The number of payments in the pay back schedule shall not be less than the following:

\$1-\$100.00	1 Payment or more at the employee's option
\$100.01 - \$500.00	4 Payments
\$500.01 - \$1,000.00	8 Payments
\$1,000.01 - \$1,800.00	12 Payments
For amounts above \$1,800.00 no payment shall exceed \$500.00 per paycheck.	

*If the affected employee is on an unpaid leave of absence, the payback will involve direct payment from the employee to the Board.

- H. A substitute or temporary employee who is employed to replace a permanent employee who is expected to be absent from duty for an indeterminate number of days, but at least twenty (20) days will, upon the recommendation of the Superintendent and the approval of the School Board, be paid the daily rate at Step 0 of the position filled. The substitute temporary employee must meet the job qualifications of the position he/she is filling in order to be paid the rate specified above. The effective date of such pay shall be no earlier than the first workday following Board approval.
- I. When a ~~teacher aide~~ Classroom (Certified) Assistant is promoted to a teacher assistant position, the step placement within the new grade shall be at the lowest annual salary that corresponds to, but is not less than, a two-step advancement on the previous pay grade.
- J. When a teacher assistant accepts a lower position, he/she shall be placed on the step they would have been on had they remained in a ~~teacher aide~~

Classroom (Certified) Assistant position. When an employee from the Special Salary job classifications—accepts a ~~teacher aide~~ Classroom (Certified) Assistant and/or Teacher (Certified) Assistant position, he/she shall be placed on the step that gives the employee credit for bargaining unit seniority.

- K. All teacher tutors, with 60 hours, social educators and community social workers shall be placed on the teacher assistant's salary range. The social educator category shall include community health workers.
- L. Teacher tutors with less than 60 hours credit shall be placed on the same salary range as a teacher aide.
- M. The salary schedules of all ~~paraprofessionals~~ education support professionals will be in accordance with Appendix C, D, or E, retroactive to the beginning of the employee's work calendar. The rate of pay for summer employment shall be paid in accordance with this salary schedule.
- N. **Salary Payments:** For payroll purposes, the work week shall be defined as Monday through Sunday. In any school year, the net pay amounts on the first and last paychecks of the year may vary. Employees working less than a 244 day calendar shall select one of the following salary payment options:
 - 1. **Year-round pay:** Employees selecting this option shall determine the dollar amount to be deducted from their bi-weekly paychecks to cover the summer paychecks. Employees choosing this option shall be paid via direct deposit into the employee's bank, savings and loan institution, or credit union account. Employees shall also have the option of selecting the number of summer pays to be received during the summer months. No deductions for health insurance, union dues, or TSAs shall be made from summer payments. Newly hired employees who are hired after the close of the enrollment period for this payroll option who desire year round pay must make this selection at the time of employment.

OR

- 2. **Contractual pay (No summer paychecks, Default Selection):** The employee's salary shall be paid in bi-weekly payments throughout the contractual year. The bi-weekly pay amounts shall be equalized except for the first and last pay period in the contract year. Under this plan, the employee's salary will be paid in full by the conclusion of his/her calendar and the employee shall not receive summer pay checks. This selection shall be the default selection for employees who fail to make a selection during the payroll options period and

shall be paid via direct deposit to the financial institution of the employee's choice.

OR

3. **Summer Savings Account:** The employee's salary shall be paid in bi-weekly direct deposit payments throughout the contractual year. The bi-weekly pay amounts shall be equalized except for the first and last pay period in the contract year. Under this plan, the employee's contract will be paid in full by the conclusion of his/her calendar. The employee will have the option to open a summer savings account at the financial institution of his/her choice at any time during the fiscal year and may opt to have the deduction amount of his/her choice paid into the summer savings account.
 4. Employees shall be eligible to change options once annually prior to the beginning of each fiscal year. Employees will not be allowed to change options during the course of a fiscal year.
 5. It is the intent of the parties to make applicable salary adjustments for employees within a time period not to exceed sixty (60) days from the date of Board approval.
- O. **Direct Deposit:** Employees shall be able to directly deposit their paychecks to any bank or savings and loan institution or credit union accepting such services. Direct deposits shall be deposited in no more than two direct deposit accounts. As of July 1, 2007, employees hired on or after July 1, 2005, shall be required to have their salaries paid via direct deposit to the financial institution of their choice.
- P. Supplements may be paid to employees, in accordance with this provision, where the employee is the person principally assigned to the duty and the duty is performed, at least in part, beyond normal working hours.

The supplemental positions listed for bargaining unit employees shall be posted prior to the ending of each school year. If the position is offered to a bargaining unit member, preference will be given to the most senior bargaining unit member at the work location.

1. **Substitute Calling Supplement:** Upon the written recommendation of the principal, one employee at each school shall receive a supplement for calling substitute employees. Only one employee per school shall receive this supplement. The annual amount of the supplement shall be based on the number of teachers at the school for which the paraprofessional employee calls substitutes as follows:

Number of Employees	Supplement
1-35	\$580
36-74	\$870
75 or more	\$1170

2. **Textbook Chairperson Supplement:** Upon the written recommendation of the principal, one employee at each school shall receive a supplement for serving as the textbook chairperson. The annual amount of the supplement shall be based on the student population of the October Full Time Equivalency (FTE) count as follows:

FTE Number	Supplement
1-700	\$530
701-1,400	\$870
1,401 or more	\$1170

3. **Breakfast Supplement:** A breakfast program supplement of seven hundred fifty dollars (\$750) annually shall be established at the elementary level for the school year. A minimum of one (1) breakfast supplement shall be provided at each elementary school in the district. See Appendix G for more information on Breakfast Supplement.

Q. Incentives may be paid to employees in accordance with this provision where the employee is the person principally assigned to the duty and the duty may be performed during normal working hours.

1. **Special Education Centers Incentive:** Effective May 1, 2002, ~~Paraprofessionals~~ education support professionals employed at the following Exceptional Education Centers: Bright Horizons School, Seagull Center ESE Program, Sunset School, The Quest Center, Wingate Oaks Center, Whispering Pines, Cross Creek Exceptional shall receive an incentive in the amount of three hundred dollars (\$300) annually.

Effective July 1, 2006, ~~paraprofessionals~~ education support professionals employed at the following alternative high school/centers: Cypress Run Education Center, Dave Thomas Education Center, Hallandale Adult & Community, Pine Ridge Alternative Center, Whiddon Rogers Education Center and Lanier James Education Center shall receive an incentive in the amount of three hundred dollars (\$300.00) annually.

2. **Medical Procedures Incentive:** Effective May 1, 2002, ~~paraprofessionals~~ education support professionals shall receive an incentive in the amount of \$1,500 annually for being assigned to

perform the following medical procedures: Clean Intermittent Catheterization, Gastrostomy, Tube Feeding, Surface Suctioning, Tracheotomies Administration of Emergency Injectable Medication and/or Blood Glucose Monitoring. Paraprofessionals education support professionals shall receive an incentive in the amount of \$200 annually for being assigned as a back up to the employee primarily assigned to perform medical procedures.

3. **Monitoring Special Needs Student on Bus Incentive:** Effective May 1, 2002, paraprofessionals education support professionals assigned to monitor a special needs student while riding a bus shall receive \$10.00 per ride per day (an employee will receive \$10.00 for the morning trip to school and another \$10.00 for the evening trip from school to student's home). The annual amount of this incentive shall be \$3,600. Paraprofessionals Education support professionals shall also receive reimbursement for mileage in accordance with School Board policy.
4. **Behaviorally Complex Students Incentive:** Effective May 1, 2002, paraprofessionals education support professionals assigned to monitor behaviorally complex students in ~~Emotionally Handicapped (EH)~~ Emotional Behavioral Disability (E/BD) Cluster classrooms, shall receive a supplement in the amount of \$1,500 annually.
5. Eligible paraprofessionals education support professionals shall receive only one of the following incentives:
 - Special Education Centers Incentive
 - Medical Procedures Incentive
 - Behaviorally Complex Students Incentive
6. Eligible paraprofessionals education support professionals who receive a supplement incentive for monitoring a special needs student while riding a bus may also receive one of the following additional supplements:
 - Special Education Centers Incentive
 - Medical Procedures Incentive
 - Behaviorally Complex Students Incentive
7. Paraprofessionals Education support professionals paid as Job Coaches or other positions at a higher salary range than a Teacher Assistant or ~~Teacher Aide~~ Classroom Assistant shall not be eligible for the Medical Procedures Incentive or the Behaviorally Complex Students Incentive.

8. ~~Paraprofessional~~ Education support professional employees performing the same supplemental duties as teachers shall receive the same compensation for the respective supplemental position contained in the supplemental pay schedule of the Broward Teachers Union bargaining agreement. Employees performing supplemental duties that are less responsible in nature than the full duties of the supplemental position shall receive a non-specific supplement.

9. **Advanced Degree Incentive:** Effective for the 2008-2009 school year, employees who possess an advanced degree (bachelor level or higher) which is not contained as a requirement in their job description shall be eligible to receive an annual supplement of:

<u>Bachelor's Degree</u>	=	<u>\$425.00</u>
<u>Master's Degree or higher</u>	=	<u>\$625.00</u>

ARTICLE 18
Miscellaneous

- A. **Altering the Agreement:** This Agreement shall constitute the full and complete commitments between both parties and may be altered, changed, added to, deleted from, or modified only through the volunteer mutual consent of the parties in written and signed amendment to this Agreement.
- B. **Savings Clause:** Should any provision of this Agreement be declared illegal by a court of competent jurisdiction or as a result of State or Federal legislation, said provision shall be automatically modified by mutual agreement of the parties to the extent that it violates the law, but the remaining provisions shall remain in full force and effect for the duration of this Agreement, if not affected by the deleted provision.
- C. **Board Policy:** This Agreement shall supersede any policies, rules and regulations, which shall be contrary to or inconsistent with the terms of this Agreement.
- D. If an individual contract between the Board and an employee contains any language inconsistent with this Agreement this Agreement, during its duration, shall be controlling.
- E. **Printing of the Agreement:** Copies of the Agreement titled: "Agreement between the ~~Broward County Paraprofessional Association~~ Broward Teachers Union-Education Support Professionals and The School Board of Broward County, Florida" shall, after approval by the Superintendent and PPA a BTU-ESP representative, be posted on both the School Board and ~~Broward PPA~~ BTU-ESP websites after the Agreement is signed, and shall be presented through CAB with a link to both websites to all unit employees, employed or hereafter employed by the Board.
- F. **Summer School:** The provisions of this Agreement shall be fully effective during and for any summer program falling within the term of this Agreement, unless otherwise indicated.
- G. **Complete Agreement:** The parties acknowledge that during the negotiations which preceded this Agreement, each had the unlimited right and opportunity to make demands and proposals with respect to any subject or matter, and that the understandings and agreements arrived at by the parties after the exercise of that right and opportunity are set forth in this Agreement.

This Agreement including its supplements and exhibits attached hereto, concludes all collective bargaining between the parties during the term hereof, and constitutes the sole, entire and existing Agreement between the parties hereto, and supersedes all prior Agreements, oral and written, expressed or implied, between the District and the PPA BTU-ESP, and expresses all obligations and restrictions imposed upon each of the respective parties during its term.

ARTICLE 19
TERM OF AGREEMENT

- A. This Agreement entered into on July 1, ~~2008~~ 2009, shall remain in effect through June 30, ~~2010~~, 2011 at which time it will expire. This agreement shall be renewed automatically from year to year thereafter, unless either party has given written notice of its desire to negotiate revisions in the terms and conditions of the contract. Each party may select three (3) articles to be re-opened for negotiation purposes, in addition to Article 15 (Insurance) and Article 17 (Wages).
- B. If the Florida Legislature fails to allocate adequate funds to implement the fiscal agreements in this contract, the Board and/or the Union may reopen negotiations on the issue of wages for 2008-2009.
- C. Either the School Board or the ~~PPA~~ BTU-ESP may require commencement of negotiations, by written notice to the President of the ~~Paraprofessional Association~~ Broward Teachers Union-Education Support Professionals or the Superintendent of Schools, respectively, ~~between April 1, 2009 and May 1, 2009~~ prior to May 1 of each year.

Dated this _____ day of _____, ~~2008~~ 2011.

The School Board of Broward
County, Florida

Broward Teachers Union-
Educational Support Professionals

Chair

Patrick Santeramo, President

Superintendent of Schools

Ernestine Alleyne, Vice President

Susan Cooper, Chief Negotiator

Dane Ramson, Chief Negotiator

Dorothy W. Davis, Co-Chief Negotiator

Iris Froehlich, Co-Chief Negotiator

**SCHOOL BOARD OF BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA
BARGAINING TEAM**

Chief Negotiator

Susan Cooper, Specialist
Employee Relations

Co-Chief Negotiator

Dorothy W. Davis, Specialist
Employee Relations

School Board Team Members

Chris Bolden, Specialist
Employee Relations

James McDermott, Principal
Forest Glen Middle

Michael McGinty, Principal
Bright Horizons School

Denise Rusnak, Director
Exceptional Student Education

Teresa Thelmas, Principal
Coconut Palm Elementary

**BTU-EDUCATION SUPPORT PROFESSIONALS
BARGAINING TEAM**

Chief Negotiator

Dane Ramson
BTU-ESP

Co-Chief Negotiator

Iris Froehlich
BTU-ESP

BTU-ESP Team Members

Ernestine Alleyne
BTU-ESP

Lila Benbow
Margate Middle

Katrina Blanks
Dillard Elementary

Alisa Lo Ray
Cresthaven Elementary

Raymond Walker
Floranada Elementary

PPA BTU-ESP OFFICIAL GRIEVANCE FORM

Name: _____

Work Location: _____

Home Address: _____ Home Phone: _____

STEP I

A. Date Cause of Grievance Occurred: _____

B. Article(s) and Section(s) alleged to have been violated:

C. State Grievance: _____

D. State Relief Sought: _____

Signature of Grievant

Date

~~PPA~~ BTU-ESP Representative Date

E. Disposition of Immediate Supervisor: _____

Immediate Supervisor

Date

Step II

F. Date Submitted to Superintendent: _____

Signature of Grievant

Signature of ~~PPA~~ BTU-ESP Representative

Copies To: (1) Immediate Supervisor, (2) ~~PPA~~ BTU-ESP, (3) Grievant, (4) Employee Relations

APPENDIX B

PARAPROFESSIONAL EDUCATION SUPPORT PROFESSIONAL EVALUATION

Name (Last) (First) (Initial)			Period Covered From _____ To _____ <small>Mo. Day Yr. Mo. Day Yr.</small>	
Classification: <u>Paraprofessional</u> <u>Education Support</u> <u>Professional</u>	Status: Permanent	If Prob. Date Ends:	Personnel Number:	
School		Department		

Reason for Review:

☐ END OF PROBATION
 ☐ FIRST SEMESTER
 ☐ SECOND SEMESTER
 ☐ OTHER

Check Items:		E=Excels	S=Satisfactory	NI=Needs Improvement				U=Unsatisfactory				NA=Not Applicable			
A. General: Record Keeping															
1.	Knowledge and ability to operate office machines; excluding typing skills														
2.	Knowledge and ability to utilize common clerical procedure, excluding shorthand skills.														
3.	Ability to update standardize pupil information records														
4.	Implement appropriate suggestions for improvement														
B. Student/Teacher Assistance															
1.	Ability to work with individual students														
2.	Ability to work with small groups of students														
3.	Ability to assist students with teacher-planned activities														
4.	Knowledge and ability to work in media centers														
5.	Knowledge and ability to prepare instructional materials and teaching aids														
6.	Knowledge and ability to use instructional materials and teaching aids														
7.	Ability to maintain control and discipline when assigned to primary responsibility														
8.	Ability to care for students when teacher is not present (for example during an emergency temporary assignment and/or during student movement to other areas).														
C. Planning and Follow-up Skills															
1.	Ability to construct specific items for tests and worksheets from teacher-provided guidelines.														
2.	Ability to conduct follow-up lessons when provided guidelines by teacher.														
3.	Ability to plan and implement specific learning activities														
D. Community Involvement															
1.	Ability to explain assigned county programs to individual parents														
2.	Ability to work with individual parents														
3.	Ability to plan and implement required meetings and parent inservice workshops														
E. Work Habits and Personal Relations															
1.	Amount of work performed														
2.	Accuracy														
3.	Initiative and resourcefulness														
4.	Neatness of work product														
5.	Attendance														
6.	Observance of work hours														
7.	Completion of work on schedule														
8.	Compliance with rules, policies and directives														
9.	Relations with fellow employees														
10.	Relations with supervisors														
11.	Relations with public														

RATER'S OVERALL EVALUATION

- ☐ Unsatisfactory: Performance is inadequate and must be corrected.
☐ Needs Improvement: Performance does not fully meet job requirements as indicated below.
☐ Satisfactory: Employee is performing as required and expected in an entirely satisfactory manner.
☐ Excels: Performance surpasses job requirements.

COMMENTS

LIST SUGGESTIONS FOR IMPROVEMENTS ON ALL ITEMS MARKED "UNSATISFACTORY":

EVALUATOR'S SIGNATURE	TITLE	DATE
EVALUATOR'S PRINTED NAME		

I acknowledge that I have received a copy of this evaluation. I have had an opportunity to discuss it with my supervisor. In signing this evaluation, I do not necessarily agree with the conclusions. I understand that I may write my comments below or on another sheet of paper.

EMPLOYEE SIGNATURE	DATE
--------------------	------

W19985

Teacher Aide Classroom Assistant
SALARY SCHEDULE
2008-2009 2009-2010

GRADE 10

STEPS	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15
HOURLY	9.39223	9.67298	9.96211	10.25989	10.56657	10.88242	11.20771	11.54272	11.88775	12.24308	12.60904	12.98594	13.37411	13.77388	14.18559
*DAILY	70.44173	72.54735	74.71583	76.94918	79.24928	81.61815	84.05783	86.57040	89.15813	91.82310	94.56780	97.39455	100.30583	103.30410	106.39193
ANNUAL	Determine annual salary based on hourly rate associated with step placement, actual daily work hours, and assigned annual calendar.														

Certified Classroom Assistant**GRADE 11**

STEPS	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15
HOURLY	9.57068	9.85677	10.15139	10.45483	10.76733	11.08919	11.42066	11.76203	12.11362	12.47570	12.84861	13.23267	13.62822	14.03558	14.45512
*DAILY	71.78012	73.92575	76.13543	78.41121	80.75501	83.16889	85.65492	88.21524	90.85213	93.56774	96.36459	99.24505	102.21164	105.26688	108.41337
ANNUAL	Determine annual salary based on hourly rate associated with step placement, actual daily work hours, and assigned annual calendar.														

Classroom Assistants meeting the requirements to be upgraded to a Certified Classroom Assistant will be assigned the same step placement on Grade 11 as previously assigned on Grade 10. Grade 11 step rates are 1.9% higher than grade 10 rates. Newly appointed Certified Classroom Assistants will be assigned step placement in accordance with standard practice for new position assignments.

SALARY SCHEDULE

* Daily Rate: This schedule is based on a 7 1/2 hour workday.

Employees on steps 1 - 14, who received a satisfactory evaluation for the 2007-2008 school year, and who worked one day more than half of their 2007-2008 assigned calendar as an ~~paraprofessional~~ education support professional shall advance one step on the 2008-2009 salary schedule. * There is 2.99% between each step.

Employees on step 15 prior to July 1, 2008, who received a satisfactory evaluation for the 2007-2008 school year, and who worked one day more than half of their 2007-2008 assigned calendar as an ~~paraprofessional~~ education support professional shall receive an additional payment.

The total annual payment for eligible Classroom Assistants Teacher Aides with a calendar of: 186 but less than 196 calendar - \$575; 196 calendar - \$600; over 196 calendar - \$700.

INCENTIVES**A. SPECIAL EDUCATION CENTERS**

In order to reward and retain ~~paraprofessionals~~ Education Support Professionals at Exceptional Education Centers, the parties agree to provide an incentive. ~~Paraprofessionals~~ Education Support Professionals employed at the following Exceptional Education Centers: Bright Horizons School, Cross Creek Exceptional, Cypress Run Education Center, Dave Thomas Education Center, Hallandale Adult & Community, Lanier James Education Center, Pine Ridge Alternative Center, Seagull Center ESE Program, Sunset School, The Quest Center, Whiddon Rogers Education Center, Wingate Oaks Center and Whispering Pines shall receive an incentive in the amount of three hundred dollars (\$300.00).

B. Supplements shall be pro-rated for employees who are hired after October 1st of the school year.

THIS SALARY SCHEDULE IS SUBJECT TO THE PROVISIONS OF ARTICLE 17-M.

Teacher Assistant
SALARY SCHEDULE
2008-2009 2009-2010

GRADE 12

STEPS	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15
HOURLY	10.83682	11.16084	11.49355	11.83670	12.19010	12.55404	12.92885	13.31486	13.71238	14.12178	14.54340	14.97790	15.42477	15.88259	16.35956
*DAILY	81.27613	83.70630	86.20163	88.77525	91.42575	94.15530	96.96638	99.86145	102.84285	105.91335	109.07550	112.33425	115.68578	119.11943	122.69670
ANNUAL	Determine annual salary based on hourly rate associated with step placement, actual daily work hours, and assigned annual calendar.														

Certified Teacher Assistant

GRADE 13

STEPS	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15
HOURLY	11.04272	11.37290	11.71193	12.06160	12.42171	12.79257	13.17450	13.56784	13.97292	14.39009	14.81972	15.26248	15.71784	16.18436	16.67039
*DAILY	82.82037	85.29672	87.83946	90.46198	93.16284	95.94425	98.80874	101.75982	104.79686	107.92570	111.14793	114.46860	117.88380	121.38269	125.02794
ANNUAL	Determine annual salary based on hourly rate associated with step placement, actual daily work hours, and assigned annual calendar.														

Teacher Assistants meeting the requirements to be upgraded to a Certified Teacher Assistant will be assigned the same step placement on Grade 13 as previously assigned on Grade 12. Grade 13 step rates are 1.9% higher than grade 12 rates. Newly appointed Certified Teacher Assistants will be assigned step placement in accordance with standard practice for new position assignments.

SALARY SCHEDULE

* Daily Rate: This schedule is based on a 7 1/2 hour workday.

Employees on steps 1 - 14, who received a satisfactory evaluation for the 2007-2008 school year, and who worked one day more than half of their 2007-2008 assigned calendar as an ~~paraprofessional~~ education support professional shall advance one step on the 2008-2009 salary schedule; there is 2.99% between each step.

Employees on step 15 prior to July 1, 2008, who received a satisfactory evaluation for the 2007-2008 school year, and who worked one day more than half of their 2007-2008 assigned calendar as an ~~paraprofessional~~ education support professional shall receive an additional payment.

The total annual payment for eligible Teacher Assistants with a calendar of: 186 but less than 196 calendar - \$600; 196 calendar - \$625; over 196 calendar - \$725.

INCENTIVES

A. SPECIAL EDUCATION CENTERS

In order to reward and retain ~~Paraprofessionals~~ Educational Support Professionals at Exceptional Education Centers, the parties agree to provide an incentive. ~~Paraprofessionals~~ Education Support Professionals employed at the following Exceptional Education Centers: Bright Horizons School, Cross Creek Exceptional, Cypress Run Education Center, Dave Thomas Education Center, Hallandale Adult & Community, Lanier James Education Center, Pine Ridge Alternative Center, Seagull Center ESE Program, Sunset School, The Quest Center, Whiddon Rogers Education Center, Wingate Oaks Center and Whispering Pines shall receive an incentive in the amount of three hundred dollars (\$300.00).

B. Supplements shall be pro-rated for employees who are hired after October 1st of the school year.

THIS SALARY SCHEDULE IS SUBJECT TO THE PROVISIONS OF ARTICLE 17-M.

SPECIAL SALARY SCHEDULE
~~2008-2009 2009-2010~~

Program Assistant

<u>Full-Time</u>	<u>Job Title</u>	<u>Pay Level</u>	<u>Hourly Rate*</u>
	Behavioral Technician	1	\$18.44599
	Broward Advisor's for Continuing Education (BRACE):		
	Associate's Degree	1	\$18.44599
	Bachelor's Degree	2	\$23.06977
	Community Liaison	1	\$18.44599
	Home Service Educator, Even Start	1	\$18.44599
	Job Coach	1	\$18.44599
	Job Coach, Educational Assistant	1	\$18.44599
	Parent Educator	1	\$18.44599
	Vocational and Career Advisor	1	\$18.44599
	Associate's Degree	1	\$18.44599
	Bachelor's Degree	2	\$23.06977

Level 1 **Applies to ALL Program Assistant classifications, except as identified at Level 2**

<u>STEPS</u>	<u>1</u>	<u>2</u>	<u>3</u>	<u>4</u>	<u>5</u>	<u>6</u>	<u>7</u>	<u>8</u>	<u>9</u>	<u>10</u>	<u>11</u>	<u>12</u>	<u>13</u>	<u>14</u>	<u>15</u>
HOURLY	17.96779	18.50503	19.05833	19.62817	20.21506	20.81949	21.44199	22.08310	22.74339	23.42342	24.12378	24.84508	25.58795	26.35303	27.14098

Level 2 **Applies to BRACE Advisor or Vocational and Career Advisor ONLY with Bachelors Degree**

<u>STEPS</u>	<u>1</u>	<u>2</u>	<u>3</u>	<u>4</u>	<u>5</u>	<u>6</u>	<u>7</u>	<u>8</u>	<u>9</u>	<u>10</u>	<u>11</u>	<u>12</u>	<u>13</u>	<u>14</u>	<u>15</u>
HOURLY	22.46305	23.13469	23.82642	24.53883	25.27254	26.02819	26.80643	27.60794	28.43342	29.28358	30.15916	31.06092	31.98964	32.94613	33.93122

Special-Salary Schedule Hourly rates were increased by 5.2%.

INCENTIVES - Special Education Centers

In order to reward and retain ~~Paraprofessionals~~ Program Assistants at Exceptional Education Centers, the parties agree to provide an incentive. ~~Paraprofessionals~~ Program Assistants employed at the following Exceptional Education Centers: Bright Horizons School, Cross Creek Exceptional, Cypress Run Education Center, Dave Thomas Education Center, Hallandale Adult & Community, Lanier James Education Center, Pine Ridge Alternative Center, Seagull Center ESE Program, Sunset School, The Quest Center, Whiddon Rogers Education Center, Wingate Oaks Center and Whispering Pines shall receive an incentive in the amount of three hundred dollars (\$300.00).

THIS SALARY SCHEDULE IS SUBJECT TO THE PROVISIONS OF ARTICLE 17-M.

*Hourly rate will be converted to annual rate based on employee calendar and workday.

Current employees assigned to step 3:
 employees hired after schedule implementation will start on step 1.

Schedule based on 3.25% increase to 2007-2008 rates and 2.99% between each step.

**COLLEGE CREDIT/ TECHNICAL COURSE
INCENTIVE PROGRAM**

The School Board of Broward County, Florida (SBBC) and the ~~Broward County Paraprofessional Association~~ Broward Teachers Union-Education Support Professionals (BTU-ESP) hereby agree to maintain a College Credit/ Technical Course Incentive Program. A joint management-labor committee shall administer the program. The Superintendent and the President of the ~~Paraprofessional Association~~ BTU-ESP shall each appoint three (3) persons to serve on this committee. A fund of at least fourteen thousand dollars (\$14,000) per year shall be established to provide stipends under this program. The number of stipends approved for this program each year may not exceed the balance of funds available at the end of the fiscal year. Any remaining balance shall be carried over to the next fiscal year, and an annual report will be provided to the ~~Paraprofessional Association~~ BTU-ESP upon request indicating the balance at the end of any fiscal year. A stipend of five hundred dollars (\$500) shall be provided to those ~~paraprofessionals~~ education support professionals earning college credit(s) or successfully completing the Teacher Assistant Course offered at the Broward Schools Technical Centers. A stipend of up to one hundred dollars (\$100), not to exceed the cost of the course taken, shall be provided to ~~paraprofessionals~~ education support professionals who successfully complete at least one education related vocational course. ~~Paraprofessionals~~ Education support professionals who are approved to participate in the program must satisfy the criteria listed below:

Eligibility criteria for the incentive program shall be as follows:

1. ~~Paraprofessionals~~ Education support professionals who have completed five (5) years of service in a ~~PPA~~ BTU-ESP bargaining unit position shall be eligible to apply for the incentive.
2. To apply for the program, an ~~paraprofessional~~ education support professional shall complete an application form developed by the committee. The form shall include, but shall not be limited to the following information: College/Technical course title, college/school name, course number, course title, and semester hours. Such application must be received no later than May 30th of each fiscal year. For candidates who complete coursework subsequent to May 30th, the application must be received by the deadline date, and official transcripts to be received no later than June 15th of each fiscal year.
3. The committee shall be responsible for the ranking of all applications and for approving or disapproving an employee's participation in the

program. The committee shall rank all eligible applicants to receive the stipend by the date that the application was received, and all eligible employees shall be paid the stipend until the fund balance for that fiscal year has been exhausted.

4. An ~~paraprofessional~~ education support professional who is approved to participate in the program shall be required to earn nine (9) semester hours or have earned the Teacher Assistant Certificate or have completed a qualifying technical course starting July 1 of the current fiscal school year and to be completed by June 30 of the same fiscal school year. The semester hours or technical course work shall be related to the field of education and shall be courses which benefit the interests of the school system as determined by the committee.
5. An employee must successfully complete the Technical course or receive a grade of C or higher in their approved undergraduate or technical courses and a B in approved graduate courses to be eligible for the stipend.
6. All applications and courses shall be approved by the committee before an employee is eligible to receive the incentive.
7. The stipend shall be paid in a lump sum after the conclusion of the school year in which it was earned and upon verification of the employee's grades.

BREAKFAST SUPPLEMENT

1. A breakfast program supplement of seven hundred and fifty dollars (\$750) shall be established at the elementary level for the school year. A minimum of one (1) supplement shall be provided at each elementary school in the district.
2. The supplemental positions shall be advertised at each elementary school. The advertisement shall be posted for three (3) workdays at each location.
3. Payment for the supplement shall be prorated biweekly over the employee's contract year.
4. ~~Paraprofessionals~~ Education support professionals shall have the first opportunity to receive the breakfast program supplement at the elementary level. If no ~~paraprofessionals~~ education support professionals apply for the supplemental position, the Board may assign the supplement to non-bargaining unit employees.
5. The supplemental position(s) shall be offered to ~~paraprofessionals~~ education support professionals in the following order:
 - a. First preference shall be given to ~~paraprofessionals~~ education support professionals who work less than a 7.5 hour day.
 - b. Second preference shall be given to ~~paraprofessionals~~ education support professionals who work a 7.5 hour day.
6. If more ~~paraprofessionals~~ education support professionals apply than there are positions, seniority in the district, attendance and reliability shall be the criteria considered by the principal in awarding the supplement(s).
7. Any ~~paraprofessional~~ education support professional who has worked beyond his/her regular workday performing the above duty, and is subsequently replaced as a result of the above procedure, shall be given compensatory time off for all hours worked beyond the regular workday.
8. When the number of breakfast participants exceeds 120 (one hundred and twenty) students at one sitting, the principal will consider allocating additional ~~paraprofessionals~~ education support professionals to the breakfast program. The decision to allocate an additional ~~paraprofessional~~ education support professional shall be at the sole discretion of the principal/administrator.

THE SCHOOL BOARD OF BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

DATE:

TO: ~~Paraprofessionals~~ Education Support Professionals

FROM: _____, Principal

SUBJECT: **SUMMER TERM/SUPER SESSION
EMPLOYMENT PREFERENCE FORM**

AT PRESENT ... the School Board has proposed summer school the week immediately following the close of the _____ school year/track.

Please indicate your intentions by filling in your name and checking the applicable and appropriate box.

Name: _____

☐ I am interested in working **Summer School:**

☐ Six Weeks (_____)

☐ 1st Three Weeks (_____)

☐ 2nd Three Weeks (_____)

☐ I am interested in working **Super Session.**

RJ/DB:crl

**THE SCHOOL BOARD OF BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA
DECLINATION OF MEDICAL COVERAGE AFFIDAVIT**

I hereby certify that:

1. I have been given an opportunity to fully participate in the group medical plans provided through the School Board of Broward County, Florida.
2. The benefits of the plans have been thoroughly explained to me, and I **decline** to participate. (NOTE: in order to choose to "decline coverage" under the medical plan, you must provide proof of your other medical coverage and have this affidavit **signed and notarized**.)

I understand that if I desire to apply for medical insurance at a later date, I enroll **only** during an annual enrollment period determined by the School Board of Broward County, Florida or during a "special enrollment period."

A "special enrollment period" is available if you are declining enrollment for yourself or your dependents (including your spouse) because of other health insurance coverage. You may in the future be able to enroll yourself or your dependents in a group medical plan through the School Board of Broward County, Florida, provided that you request enrollment within thirty (30) days after your other coverage ends. In addition, if you have a new dependent as a result of marriage, birth, adoption, or placement for adoption, you may be able to enroll yourself and your dependents, provided that you request enrollment within 30 days after the marriage, birth, adoption, or placement or adoption. In the case of COBRA continuation coverage, you may be eligible for a special enrollment period if the COBRA coverage is exhausted. A special enrollment period is not available if coverage under your prior plan or COBRA coverage was terminated for cause or as a result of failure to pay any required contributions toward the cost of coverage on a timely basis.

Employee's Signature

Date

Print Name

~~Social Security Number~~ Personnel Number

Signed before me on this _____ day of _____, _____.

My Commission Expires:

**~~MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING BETWEEN
THE SCHOOL BOARD OF BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA
AND THE BROWARD PARAPROFESSIONAL ASSOCIATION~~**

~~Upon ratification, both parties agree to establish a Special Task Force Committee for the 2001-2004 contract.~~

~~The President of the PPA (designee) and the Superintendent (designee) shall serve as co-chairpersons.~~

~~The President of the PPA (designee) and the Superintendent (designee) shall each select five (5) people to serve on this committee.~~

~~The purpose of the committee is to address the following issues:~~

- ~~1. Initial training appropriate for ESE, Unique, and Regular Aides and paraprofessionals.~~
- ~~2. Revise the current aides and paraprofessional job descriptions.~~
- ~~3. Discuss the creation of a job description for the ESE/Unique Aides.~~
- ~~4. Review methods of compensation for supplemental paraprofessional and ESE/Unique Aide duties.~~

**MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING BETWEEN
THE SCHOOL BOARD OF BROWARD COUNTY AND
THE BROWARD PARAPROFESSIONAL ASSOCIATION BROWARD TEACHERS
UNION-EDUCATION SUPPORT PROFESSIONALS**

The School Board of Broward County (SBBC) shall implement a Broward Teacher Corp Program in which the District provides funding support for programs to assist paraprofessionals education support professionals in becoming highly qualified educational support personnel or educators. Selected paraprofessionals education support professionals shall be offered opportunities to participate in the Paraprofessional Education Support Professional to Teacher Assistant or Paraprofessional Education Support Professional to Teacher Programs. The Broward Educational Consortium partners with SBBC to design and develop courses to support H.R. 1 Section 1119, *No Child Left Behind Act of 2001*, Federal mandate and to ensure that paraprofessionals education support professionals meet qualifications to be paraprofessionals education support professionals/teachers in a Title I school.

1. Paraprofessionals Education Support Professionals must be full-time employees in Broward County Title I Schools.
2. Instructional paraprofessionals education support professionals shall be selected based upon the following, listed in order of priority. After instructional paraprofessionals education support professionals have been selected, and additional slots are available, non-instructional paraprofessionals education support professionals may be selected based upon the following, listed in priority order:
 - a. Paraprofessionals Education support professionals must meet the higher education institution entry requirements including submission of required application documents before established deadlines.
 - b. Paraprofessionals Education support professionals must be currently employed in an Upward Bound Title I school.
 - c. Paraprofessionals Education support professionals must be currently employed in a Title I school.
 - d. Paraprofessionals Education support professionals who have the highest overall GPA on the most recent college transcript and then, in the case of a tie, those paraprofessionals education support professionals who have the highest bargaining unit seniority.

43. Program completion shall occur when the employee provides documentation that he/she has fulfilled all course work requirements outlined by the higher education institution.
54. After successful completion of the program, provided the individual meets the District's employment standards, the employee may be assigned as a teacher assistant or teacher to work/teach in a Title I school for a period equal to the period of time in the Broward Teacher Corp. The employee must remain employed in a Title I school unless involuntarily reassigned to a position in a non-Title I school. If the employee cannot be immediately assigned as a teacher to a Title I school, the employee's commitment period shall be postponed to pay back tuition cost. The employee shall be required to accept a Title I assignment when offered and fulfillment of any commitments shall begin when the Title I assignment begins.
65. After completing the Broward Teacher Corps program, an employee must commit to teaching/working as a teacher or teacher assistant in a Broward County Title I school for the same period of time that the Board paid his/her tuition in the Broward Teacher Corp. If he/she does not, he/she must pay back partial or full tuition costs paid by the district depending on how many years he/she worked in a District Title I school. (Example: If an employee participates for two years and decides to leave a Title I school after one year, he/she must pay back 50% of the tuition costs to the district.) Tuition reimbursement shall be based on a per credit hour basis.
76. If the employee does not complete the training program, the employee shall reimburse the District for 100% of the training cost incurred. Employees shall not be required to pay back tuition costs if the employee has a serious medical problem that prevents the employee from completing the program, which is verified by a physician of the employee's choice. The Board may require a subsequent exam by a Board selected physician at its expense. In addition, teachers or ~~paraprofessionals~~ education support professionals shall not be required to pay back tuition costs if they are laid off, terminated, requested to resign, or involuntarily transferred on the basis of seniority.
87. An approved medical, professional leave nor personal leave will be accepted toward fulfillment of this obligation. Nor will such leaves be considered as a violation of the employee's obligation. The employee shall be required to complete their commitment period or training upon return from such leaves.
98. Employees who participate in this program shall be required to sign a Promissory Note agreeing to the reimbursement provision stated above.
109. Employees shall not be required to pay back tuition cost if; (1) the Board chooses to discontinue the Broward Teacher Corp program before completion and/or (2) the employee chooses not to continue the program in

any year that the full tuition cost is not paid, provided the program paid full tuition cost in the first year of enrollment. If either or both of the situations above shall occur the Board shall not be required to fulfill any of the obligations contained herein for those employees.

~~11~~10. Employees who enroll in a program that in the first year of enrollment does not offer full tuition payment shall be required to complete the program regardless of changes in reimbursements made by the district, provided the program is not discontinued.

~~12~~11. These terms and conditions shall remain in effect should the ~~paraprofessional~~ education support professional become a teacher.

10/24/02

**MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING BETWEEN
THE SCHOOL BOARD OF BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA
AND THE ~~BROWARD PARAPROFESSIONAL ASSOCIATION~~ BROWARD
TEACHERS UNION-EDUCATION SUPPORT PROFESSIONALS**

Upon ratification of the 2006-2007 contract, the District shall conduct an internal job study and both parties agree to work through the ~~PPA~~ BTU-ESP Labor Management Committee to give input and review, discuss the structure and status updates, and equally share information throughout the process of all positions within the ~~PPA~~ BTU-ESP bargaining unit for the purpose of determining if the Career Ladder should replace the existing salary schedules. The studies shall be completed by the end of the 2006-2007 school year, unless both parties mutually agree to extend the timeline. After the study is concluded, both parties shall jointly make recommendations based upon the findings of the study.

**MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING BETWEEN
THE SCHOOL BOARD OF BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA
AND THE ~~BROWARD PARAPROFESSIONAL ASSOCIATION~~ BROWARD
TEACHERS UNION-EDUCATION SUPPORT PROFESSIONALS**

The parties agree that all eligible teacher aides and teacher assistants shall receive one step advancement on the salary schedule for the 2008-2009 school year. Those eligible aides and assistants who are on Step 15 as of July 1, 2008 shall receive a lump sum payment as reflected on the salary schedule.

Using the remainder of the 3.25% salary increase utilized for step advancement, a Grade 11 and Grade 13 shall be created during the 2008-2009 school year for those teacher aides and teacher assistants who are highly qualified, either by the earning an Associates degree or higher from an accredited university, the earning of at least 60 semester hours of earned college credit from an accredited university or by achieving a passing score on the Para Pro Assessment Test.

~~Paraprofessional~~ Education support professional job classifications shall be modified in the following manner:

- Classroom ~~Paraprofessionals~~ education support professionals shall be identified as Educational Assistants.
- Teacher Aides who are not highly qualified as reflected above shall be given the title of "Classroom Assistant" and will remain at a Grade 10.
- Highly Qualified Teacher Aides shall be titled, "Certified Classroom Assistant" and will be placed on the newly created Grade 11 with an effective date of July 1, 2008.
- Teacher Assistants who are not highly qualified; no change in title and will remain at Grade 12.
- Highly Qualified Teacher Assistants shall be titled "Certified Teacher Assistant" and will be placed on the newly created Grade 13 with an effective date of July 1, 2008.

Both parties agree that the implementation of Grades 11, 13 and the new job classifications will be implemented and payment received as expeditiously as possible, or by an April 2009 completion date. Job descriptions shall be modified to reflect the new classifications and qualifications.

The Special Salary Schedule shall be renamed Program Assistant Salary Schedule effective July 1, 2008. A step salary schedule shall be created and implemented effective July 1, 2008.

It is also agreed that \$156,000 shall be used to create a degree incentive for bargaining unit employees who possess an advanced degree from an accredited university that is not contained as a minimum qualification in their job description. The incentive shall be divided in two categories: (1) an earned Bachelor's degree or (2) an earned Master's degree or higher. Once the number of eligible employees is identified, the amount of the incentive will be determined and paid by March 2009.

EDUCATION SUPPORT PROFESSIONAL INDEX

Page 1 of 7

<u>Subject</u>	<u>Article/Section</u>
Access for Information	3 D
Administrative Designee	1 B
Air Quality and Health/Safety Committee.....	5 X
Agreement Posting.....	18 E
Altering the Agreement	18 A
Annual Work Calendar	6 E
Assignments	13 A
BTU-ESP Exclusivity.....	5 K
BTU-ESP Leave.....	12 O
Arbitration.....	4 C
Bargaining Unit Clarification	1 C
Basic Annual Work Calendar	6 E
Bereavement	
Behavioral Complex Student Incentive.....	17 Q
Board Furnished Materials	5 F
Board Policy	18 C
Breakfast Supplement	Appendix G
Breaks.....	6 C
Broward Teacher Corp Memorandum of Understanding	Appendix J
Bulletin Boards and Mailboxes, Use of.....	5 D
CAB Email Access.....	5 C
Cafeteria Duty Assignment	6 B
Cafeteria Plan	15 J
Calendar.....	6 E
Career Ladder Path.....	Appendix K
Child Abuse Reporting/Employee Protection.....	5 S
College Credit Incentive Program.....	Appendix F
Complaints Against an Employee.....	6 I
Computation of Pay for Leave.....	12 G
Contract Posting.....	18 E
Creation of Pay Grade 11 and 13 & MOU.....	Appendix L
Declared Emergency	11
Deductions, Payroll.....	5 I
Definitions.....	1 B
Demotion, Step Placement	17 J
Direct Deposit.....	17 O
Disability Income Insurance.....	15 C
Discipline, Employee.....	9
Dismissal, early	6 F
Dismissal, Employee.....	6 F

EDUCATION SUPPORT PROFESSIONAL INDEX

Page 2 of 7

<u>Subject</u>	<u>Article/Section</u>
Domestic Violence Leave.....	5 T
Donation of Sick Leave.....	12 Q
Drop Off, Student	5 O
Duty Assignment, Cafeteria	13 F
Early Dismissal	6 F
Early Release Time, Inservice Training	16 F
Early Termination of Leave	12 M
Email Access	5 C
Emergency School Closing	11
Employee and BTU-ESP Rights	5
Employees (defined)	1
Employee Discipline.....	9
Employee Dismissal.....	6 F
Employee Evaluation	8
Employee Protection/Student Discipline	6 J
Employee Reimbursement	15 H
Employee School Closing	11
Employees, Probationary	1 B, 6 Q
Employees, Temporary.....	6 P
Employment, Terms and Conditions of.....	6
Equipment, Use of	5 C
Errors in Paychecks.....	17 G
Evaluation Form.....	Appendix B
Evaluation Post Observations Conference	8 B 6
Evaluation Procedure.....	8 B
Evaluation, Employee Response.....	8 B 9
Evaluation, Unsatisfactory.....	8 B 4 a
Executive Officers of BTU-ESP	5 N
Experience Credit	6 G
Formal Grievance Procedure	4 C
Fourth Tier Dependent Rate.....	15 M
Fringe Benefits During Leave	12 K
Grievance Procedure.....	4
Grievance Form	Appendix A
Group Insurance Plan.....	15 I
Group Term Life Insurance	15 A
Hardship Transfers.....	13 G 1
Harrassment.....	.9 B
Health and Safety	6 K

EDUCATION SUPPORT PROFESSIONAL INDEX

Page 3 of 7

<u>Subject</u>	<u>Article/Section</u>
Holidays	10
Illness in Line of Duty	12 D
Immediate Family Member (defined)	12 R 3
Incentives	17
Incentive, Behaviorally Complex Students Incentive	17 Q 4
Incentive, Medical Procedures Incentive	17 Q 2
Incentive, Monitoring Special Needs Student on Bus	17 Q 3
Incentive, Special Education Centers Incentive	17 Q 5,6
Inclusion, Inservice Training	16 G
Inclusion of Contract	1 A
Indemnity Insurance	15 F
Information to the Union	5B
Inservice Study Committee	16 A
Inservice Training	16
Insurance	15
Insurance, Opt-Out of Coverage	15 N
Internal Job Study	Appendix K
Involuntary Transfers	13 G 2
Job Description, Notification of	1 C
Job Descriptions, furnished to Association	13 A
Job Study	Appendix K
Just Cause	6 H
Jury Duty	12 F
Labor Management/Committee Meetings	3 E
Labor Management Team Members	3 C
Layoff	14
Leave, Early Termination of	12 M
Leaves	12
Legal Commitments Leave	12 F
Liability Insurance	15 D
Lounges	6 L
Lunch Period	6 D
Management Rights	2
Managing Workforce	2 C
Mailboxes and Bulletin Boards, Use of	5 D
Materials, Board Furnished	5 F
Maternity/Personal Leave	12 E
Medical Coverage Affidavit	Appendix I
Medical Procedures Incentive	17 Q 2

EDUCATION SUPPORT PROFESSIONAL INDEX

Page 4 of 7

<u>Subject</u>	<u>Article/Section</u>
Membership Requirements for Sick Leave Bank.....	12 P 2
Mileage Reimbursement.....	17 F
Military Duty Leave.....	12 I
Military Reserve Leave	12 H
Miscellaneous	18
Monitoring Special Needs Student on Bus.....	17 Q 3
Negotiations (procedure)	3
Negotiation Team Members	3 C
Non-Reprisal Clause	5 J
No Summer Paychecks	17 N 2
Notification, Reduction in Force	14 A
Observations, Classroom	8 B 4
Official Grievance Form	Appendix A
Off-Street Parking.....	6 M
Opt-Out of Insurance Coverage.....	15 N
Order of Reduction, Reduction in Force.....	14 B
Overpayments	17 G
Paid Holidays.....	10 A
Parking/I.D. Passes.....	5 U
Parking, Off-Street.....	6 M
Paycheck Errors	17 G
Personal Day, Before/After a Holiday	12 B 2
Personal Reason Notification.....	12 B 2
Personal/Maternity Leave	12 E
Payroll Deductions.....	5 I
Personnel Files	7
Personal Leave (long term)	12 J
Personal Property Loss.....	15 H
Personal Reasons Leave	12 B
Physical Restraint Training.....	5 P
Pick Up, Student	5 O
Post-Observation Conference, Evaluation.....	8 B 6
BTU-ESP and Employee Rights	4
BTU-ESP President Leave	5 N
Premium Amount, Insurance	15 B 1
Printing of the Agreement	18 E
Probationary Employee Layoff.....	14 D 7
Probationary Employees	1 B, 6 Q
Probationary Period	1 B, 8 C
Procedure for Future Negotiations.....	3

EDUCATION SUPPORT PROFESSIONAL INDEX

Page 5 of 7

<u>Subject</u>	<u>Article/Section</u>
Professional Development	5 Q
Promotions	13 F
Promotion, Step Placement	17 I
Property Damage	15 H
Purpose of Evaluation	8 A
Reassignment	13 C
Recall Procedure, Reduction in Force	14 C
Recognition of BTU-ESP.....	1
Reduction in Force.....	14
Reduction in Service near Retirement	14 D 6
Reimbursement for Property Damage.....	15 H
Re-Openers for Negotiations.....	19
Representation for grievances	4 B, 9
Reserve Military Leave	12 H
Response to Evaluation.....	8 B 9
Rest Areas	6 L
Retirement, Pay of Sick Time	12 C
Return from Leave Early	12 N
Rights of Management	2
Right to Address the School Board	5 G
Rosters	5 M
Safety Glasses and Smocks.....	6 O
Safety and Health	6 K
Salary Payments	17 N
Salary Schedules	Appendix C, D & E
Savings Clause	18 B
School Closing Emergency	11
School Facilities, Use of	5 C
School Visitation.....	5 H
Sick Leave	12 A
Sick Leave Abuse	12 A 3
Sick Leave at Retirement.....	12 C
Sick Leave Bank	12 P
Sick Leave Bank Committee.....	12 P 3
Sick Leave, Before/After a Holiday	12 A 3
Sick Leave Buy Back.....	12 S
Sick Leave, Donation of.....	12 Q
Sick Leave, Half or Full Day	12 A 2
Seniority	1 B 5
Smocks and Safety Glasses.....	6 O
Special Education Centers Incentive	17 Q 1

EDUCATION SUPPORT PROFESSIONAL INDEX

Page 6 of 7

<u>Subject</u>	<u>Article/Section</u>
Special Salary Schedule.....	Appendix E
Step Placement from Promotion	17 I
Straight Leveling Model.....	15 B 1 d
Student Discipline/Employee Protection	6 J
Student Pick Up and Drop Off.....	5 O
Student Ratio to Education Support Professional.....	5 V
Student Teaching.....	15 O
Subpoenas.....	12 F
Substitute Calling Supplement	17 P 1
Substitute of Temporary Employee Pay	17 H
Summer Paychecks	17 N 2
Summer Savings Account	17 N 3
Summer School/Super Session Vacancies	13 E, 18
Super Seniority/Layoffs.....	5W
Super Sessions	13 E, Appendix H
Supplement, Breakfast	17 P 3
Supplement, Substitute Calling	17 P 1
Supplement, Textbook Chairperson	17 P 2
Supplements	17 P
 (Certified) Classroom Assistant Salary Schedule.....	Appendix C
(Certified) Teacher Assistant Salary Schedule.....	Appendix D
Teacher Corp	Appendix J
Telephones	6 N
Temporary Duty Leave	5 N, 12 L
Temporary Employees.....	6 P
Terminal Pay	12 C
Term of Agreement.....	19
Terms and Conditions of Employment.....	6
Timeline of Evaluation	8 B 3
Textbook Chairperson Supplement	17 P 2
Training, Inservice	16
Transaction of Association Business	5 E
Transfers	13 G
Transfers, Hardship.....	13 G 1
Transfers, Involuntary	13 G 2
Underpayments	17 G 3
Unsatisfactory Evaluation.....	8 B 4 a
Unsatisfactory Evaluation, Wage Increase.....	17 A 2
Use of Bulletin Boards & Mailboxes	5 D
Use of School Board Buildings	5 B
Use of School Facilities and Equipment.....	5 C

EDUCATION SUPPORT PROFESSIONAL INDEX

Page 7 of 7

<u>Subject</u>	<u>Article/Section</u>
Vacancies	13 B-E, 14 C
Vehicles Damage	15 H
Vision Care Program	15 K
Visitation, School.....	5 H
Wages.....	17, Appendix C, D, E
Withdrawal from Sick Bank	12 P 4
Work Calendar.....	17 D
Work Calendar, Basic Annual	6 E
Workday	6 A-B
Year Round Pay	17 N 1

~~11/10/08-09/29/09~~
07/12/10